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TE RUNANGA O NGATI POROU

VISION 
Ko te whakapumau i te 
mana motuhake o Ngati 
Porou i roto i tona
mana Atua, mana 

Tangata, mana Whenua

MISSION 
The vision of Ngati Porou will 
be achieved
through affirming the 
Matauranga Ngati Porou and 
its application to cultural, 
economic, environmental 
and social developments that 
contribute to the prosperity 
and survival of Ngati Porou 
whanau and hapu while 
actively enhancing the “mana 
motuhake” of Ngati Porou.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004
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GUIDING PRINCIPLES
Providing every person of 
Ngati Porou descent with the 
opportunity to actively participate 
in the development of his/her own 
whanau, and/or hapu

Drawing on our collective strength 
as Ngati Porou while celebrating 
our unique hapu identity

Contributing to the enhancement 
and strengthening of our whanau 
and hapu links

Achieving hapu independence 
whilst recognising the value of our 
interdependence as an Iwi



VISION AND GOALS 

BENEFICIARIES
The beneficiaries of Te 
Runanga O Ngati Porou 
as stated in the 
Te Runanga O Ngati 
Porou Act (1987) are:

Nga uri o nga hapu 
o Ngati Porou mai i 
Potikirua ki te Toka a Taiau

“the descendants of the 
hapu of Ngati Porou 
from Potikirua to Te Toka 
a Taiau”

STRATEGIC GOALS
To retain, enhance practise and promote our ancestral heritage as Ngati Porou.

To achieve Ngati Porou self-governance and self-reliance.

To actively encourage Ngati Porou in the development of their Whanau, Hapu, 
Marae, Taura Here, Runanga and to enrol on the Runanga register.

To ensure the return and retention of Ngati Porou taonga.

To support Ngati Porou development through sustaining an optimum return on 
the Ngati Porou assets that are managed by the Runanga. 

To support Ngati Porou Whanau and Hapu to achieve an optimum return on 
their assets and resources.

To negotiate with the Crown a Ngati Porou social development agenda that 
is founded on Ngati Porou tikanga and responsive to Ngati Porou needs and 
priorities.
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Board of Trustees Chairman
Apirana Mahuika

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
E nga whanau hapu o Ngati Porou, tena koutou katoa.  Tena hoki tatau 
i o tatau tini aitua kua wehe atu i a tatau ki te noho tahi me nga mana kei 
tuawhakarere, kei te po.  E whai ake nei ko wetahi o nga korero e pa ana ki nga 
mahi a Te Runanga i te tau kua taha ake nei.

“He iwi moke he iwi whanoke.”
Ngati Porou is and always will be “he iwi moke he iwi whanoke”.  We are 
an isolated and resourceful Iwi and this year the parameters of our self-
defining isolation were pushed to the extreme.  We also had to become 
more resourceful in drawing from our cultural reserves, to ensure that 
we protected our interests while keeping our eye firmly fixed on the 
big picture.  I am pleased to say that we have come through this year 
with a sense of satisfaction and purpose, and the minor hiccups that we 
experienced along the way have been put into their right perspective, a 
lot of hot air and not much substance.

Treaty Claims
As at March of this year there were about 33 claims registered      
with the Waitangi Tribunal to be included in the East Coast Claims  
(cluster). The increase in the number of registered claims has created a 
number of challenges including:
1. the variance in the preparedness of each Claim and the respective 

Claimants in respect to, having undertaken their research, preparation of 
evidence and compliance with mandate requirements etc…

2. individual Claimants, claiming for themselves or their own whanau who 
receive the same weighting in decision-making processes to Claimants  
acting for and on behalf of Hapu and/or Iwi

3. the increase in expenditure for the claim based on the increase in the 
number of Lawyers involved and the administration costs

4. the increased potential for Claimants to be countering another claim, 
thereby focusing our attention on each other (our internal dynamics) 
rather than the Crown. 

We hasten to add that this dynamic is not unique to us, it unfortunately 
appears to be part and parcel of Waitangi Tribunal proceedings. We 
believe that common-sense will prevail especially when it becomes clear 
that the Crown does not want to deal with individual whanau and hapu 
or self-proclaimed Iwi and, that the settlement package that we might 
achieve through the Waitangi Claims process will be circumspect in 
comparison with other Treaty Settlements. 
In light of these developments the Runanga working in conjunction with 
Ngati Porou whanau and hapu need to co-ordinate a strategic treaty 
settlement process through implementing a three-step plan to achieve 
Ngati Porou Treaty Settlement objectives. 

Ngati Porou Takutai Moana
The Runanga on behalf of affected Ngati Porou whanau and hapu and in 
collaboration with the majority of Ngati Porou hapu took the following 
steps to express our position on the Takutai Moana over the last year:
•  presentation of our submissions on the Government’s Foreshore & 

Seabed proposal at Whangara, September 2003;
•  participation in the initial  stages of the Waitangi Tribunal inquiry, noting 

that in January 2004 the Runanga and the majority of Ngati Porou Hapu 
groups withdrew 

•  filing applications for investigation with the Maori Land Court 
•  direct discussions with the Government.
In February 2004 Ngati Porou joined forces with our tuakana Te Whanau 
a Apanui to provide a united and strength-based approach to our 

Api Mahuika, Renata Mahuika, 
James Johnston and Te Rau Kupenga
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discussions with the Crown on our respective Takutai Moana. We have 
appreciated the opportunity to work as one with our whanaunga and it 
provides a strong platform to work together on a number of kaupapa.
The Runanga has spent a significant amount of its own financial resources, 
time and energy to ensure that Ngati Porou whanau and hapu maintain 
their authority and ownership of the Takutai Moana. The two Takutai 
Moana documentaries produced and broadcast this year are samples of 
the work undertaken. 
Ngati Porou whanau and hapu members also contributed to the 
documentaries and have used their own resources to attend hui, prepare 
evidence and assist with the preparation of  Foreshore and Seabed 
submissions. 

HIGHLIGHTS
There have been many highlights for me this year, including:

Tourism
The acquisition of Raparaparikiriki (RIP Homestead) is a strategic 
development because it provides us with a base for our Hikurangi Maunga 
guided Tours and our Adventure Tourism Ngati Porou operation.  We will 
be opening the first of three Ngati Porou Tourism Centres before the end 
of the year, which will effect improved promotion of the many whanau/
hapu tourism ventures that have been developed. 

Ngati Porou Whanui Forest (NPWFL)
NPWFL is one of the economic success stories that emanated from our 
1985 Economic Summit.  The Company continues to do well under the 
leadership of Chairman Whaimutu Dewes and his fellow directors along 
with the management leadership provided by Chris Insley.

Tairawhiti Development Taskforce
TRONP is a partner in the Taskforce.  The Deputy Chairperson, CEO and I 
have waived sitting and travel fees amounting to $50,000 as TRONP’s in 
kind contribution to the work of the Taskforce.  We have also contributed 
$150,000 to support small Ngati Porou land holding groups.

Pakihiroa / Puanga Farms
The work of our Farm Committee is progressing well.  We are fortunate 
to have the input of a multi-disciplinary team of agriculture graduates, 
successful farmers and Chairs of numerous Ngati Porou land blocks whose 
leadership has been invaluable. 

Acknowledgements
I wish to acknowledge and applaud those Trustees who remained 
committed to the tasks that we faced during the year and for your 
unstinting service to Ngati Porou.  To our CEO and staff, thank you all for 
the professional  manner in which you responded to all the work demands 
and pressures that you had to contend with .“Kia ora” and “Kia kaha” . We 
have excellent staff and I acknowledge their work and their support to the 
Board and myself personally.  To the many Ngati Porou Taura here roopu  
working to support those of our people living away from home, thank 
you for the on-going support. To Ngati Porou kei te kainga, “the warm and 
beckoning glow of the home fires would not be possible without you all,” 
and for that Ngati Porou will always be indebted.
Na reira tena koutou katoa. Meri Kirihimete, hape nuia ki katoa. 
Kei Te Atua nga Manaakitanga

“E kore te mana tipuna e waimeha 
he mana tuturu mo ake tonu.”

A T Mahuika
Chairman  

From left: Graeme  Butterworth, Mate 
Kaiwai, Winston Peters, Api Mahuika 

and Tamati Reedy at the 2003 Ta Apirana 
Ngata Memorial Lectures.

Foreshore & Seabed
TRONP initiated the idea of 

negotiating with the Crown in 
respect of the Foreshore and 
Seabed.  Many whanau hapu 
of Ngati Porou endorsed and 

supported the concept.
Ngati Porou had the options:

1 to do nothing which must result 
in us losing our Mana to the 

Crown
2 to do something and therefore 

establish and retain our tikanga 
mana of ownership over our 

Foreshore and Seabed
3 to join pan Maori groupings and 

in the process allow others to 
make decisions for us.

We have been successful in 
establishing a negotiation process 
between ourselves and the Crown.  

Negotiations set a framework 
that will specify how this process 
will occur as well as the issues for 

discussion.  This is not a deal!
Kua whakauru mai a Te Whanau-a-

Apanui ki roto i tenei kaupapa, a, kei 
te mahi tahi me tatau.

Kei te huri haere matau ki te motu 
ki te whakamohio ki nga uri o 

Porourangi he aha nga whakahaere 
e mahia ana.
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Group of Ngati Porou pakeke attending 
the 16th anniversary celebrations of the 
Runanga at Hiruharama Marae, 
1 September 2003.

BOARD OF TRUSTEES’ REPORT
OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES AND ACHIEVEMENTS
1. Governance
The Runanga Trustees undertook to review three areas of their 
Governance policies and responsibilities;
TRUSTEE REMUNERATION
As a Statutory body the Runanga remuneration structure is set in 
accordance with the State Services Commission Fees Framework for 
members of Statutory and other bodies appointed by the Crown. The 
recommended annual remuneration scale for our organisation is
- Chairperson      $12,000-$21,600 
- Board Member  $ 6,000-$10,800. 
A fee below or within this range can be paid. However, no payment can be 
made that exceeds this amount without the prior approval of the Minister. 
This year the Board determined that Board members’ sitting fees would be 
$250 gross per Board meeting @ 16 meetings a year, this would amount 
to $4,000. The rationale applied for setting this fee was the financial 
constraints on the Runanga and the size of the Board (20 Members). The 
Board also agreed to set the Chairperson’s remuneration at $21,000 pa 
based on the work-load that the Chairperson undertakes on behalf of 
the Runanga. Trustees who regularly attend hui to represent the interests 
of the Runanga make a significant voluntary contribution, which would 
surpass the sitting fees that they are paid.
CODE OF CONDUCT
The Board signed off on a revised Code of Conduct, which we believed 
would assist us to achieve a more cohesive and disciplined governance 
approach. While this has been the case in some circumstances, it is not 
always achievable. Trustees must give serious consideration to effecting 
unanimity in the Board’s commitment to the Code of Conduct, to ensure 
our collective responsibility for good governance and ethical Trusteeship. 
ESTABLISHING BOARD PRIORITIES
To assist the Board focus their energies and effort, they determined a set 
of Governance priorities which included the: 
•  review of the Runanga representation model 
•  improved communication with stakeholders
•  leadership Wananga and Succession planning
•  retention, promotion and protection of our Reo, Tikanga, History and 

traditions
•  Crown and iwi relationships
•  set the parameters for the development of the new strategic plan 
•  restoring a prosperous Ngati Porou economy 
•  establishing the Ngati Porou Marae/ Hapu Fisheries Trust
•  legislative compliance 

– The Runanga continues to meet its 
statutory obligations under the Maori Trusts 
Board Act
– We continue to monitor changes to 
legislation that we are bound by and to 
enact the required amendments
 FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
The Runanga has maintained its 100% 
unqualified audit track record.
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2. Submissions
The key submissions that the Runanga has worked on this year and 
presented to  respective Select Committees are the Supreme Court 
Bill, Maori Fisheries Bill, and Foreshore and Seabed.
 
3. Economic Development
The Board has focused its attention on three key economic 
activities:
•  the establishment of the Ngati Porou Landowners (NPL) forum in 

July 2003 and the maintenance of communications with over 180 
Ngati Porou landowners on a bi-monthly basis. The NPL forums 
have provided an opportunity for landowners to share best 
practice ideas and models, and to workshop on key topics that 
they have identified.

• TRONP investment in Tairawhiti Development Taskforce
 – MRI (Major Regional Initiative)
 – $150K cash targeting small Ngati Porou landowner  groups
 – $50K in-kind contribution
•  reviewed economic performance targets set at the 1985 Hui Taumata 

and identified key fisheries, forestry, tourism, farming and land 
development priorities.

4. Defamation Proceedings
In the previous year we initiated defamation proceedings against Tira 
Mana Hapu and its Chairman as a consequence of unprecedented attacks 
on the honesty, integrity and reputation of our Runanga, its Trustees 
and Officers. The proceedings were brought to a close this year with the 
retraction of the defamatory comments and an apology issued by the 
parties who had made the attack on the Runanga. Issuing defamation 
proceedings was not a matter that we took lightly, but one that we were 
forced to take to protect our reputation and to send a clear message 
that we would not tolerate reckless ‘defamatory’ statements being made 
against the Runanga and its members in such a reckless manner.

The following statement is the Retraction and Apology by the Chairman 
of Te Tira Mana Hapu, which was read out in the Gisborne High Court, 29 
September 2004, bringing closure to these proceedings. 
RETRACTION AND APOLOGY
These proceedings arose out of events at a fisheries hui by Te Runanga o 
Ngati Porou at Rahui marae, Tikitiki, on 21 July 2002. At that hui the Runanga 
reported on the fisheries leases over the previous nine years, and provided 
details on the accumulated profits.
The hui was told that, after allowing for investments and grants from fisheries 
moneys, a surplus of $1.9 million was held in cash at the bank.
A dispute about this information led to statements from Mr Donnelly which 
resulted in defamation proceedings being brought by Mr Apirana Mahuika 
and Ms Amohaere Houkamau, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Te 
Runanga O Ngati Porou.  The proceedings were brought in their positions as 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.  
During this week, additional information about the fisheries monies has been 
heard in Court.
Having heard this, including Ms Houkamau’s evidence, Mr Donnelly accepts 
that the statements made to the hui were not lies.  He withdraws and 
apologises to Mr Mahuika, Ms Houkamau and Te Runanga O Ngati Porou for 
making such statements. 
On 16 October 2002, a letter was sent by Ms Tawa Paenga to the Serious 
Fraud Office and the Gisborne CIB alleging misappropriation of $1.9 million of 
fisheries money by CEO Amohaere Houkamau.
On 17 October 2002, Mr Donnelly wrote to the Chairman of the Treaty of 
Waitangi Fisheries Commission and others, including certain Commissioners, 

“Kia mate ururoa 
kei mate wheke.”

The Ngarimu sisters (from left), Mrs 
Mihihara Ngata, Mrs Te Awhenga Nepe and 

Mrs Keita Walker.

Rohe 3 trustee Noel Raihania (right), his 
wife Ginger (seated) and daughter

Iritana Ngarimu.
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From left: Mr Jack Manuel, Mrs Porua 
Green, Mrs Hana Raroa and trustee Maria 
Whitehead (rear) at Runanga celebrations.

Ministers of the Crown and other Members of Parliament, making similar 
allegations against Te Runanga O Ngati Porou.  
The Serious Fraud Office and the Gisborne CIB advised shortly afterwards that 
there were no grounds for alleging any misappropriation, fraud, or theft of 
any moneys.
Mr Donnelly acknowledges that there were no grounds for alleging 
misappropriation, fraud, or theft of any monies by the Chairman, Chief 
Executive Officer, or anyone else at Te Runanga O Ngati Porou.
Mr Donnelly withdraws, retracts, and apologises unreservedly for the offence 
and distress caused to Mr Mahuika, Ms Houkamau, Te Runanga O Ngati 
Porou, its Board, officers and staff as a result of his allegations.  
Having regard to Mr Donnelly’s financial circumstances as advised by him, Te 
Runanga O Ngati Porou has decided not to pursue its claim for damages and 
costs.
Mr Mahuika, Ms Houkamau, and Te Runanga O Ngati Porou are pleased that 
their reputations have been restored, and that this matter has now been 
resolved to their satisfaction.
Dated 29 September 2004

7. Highlights:
• Progress made in the discussions with the Crown on the Takutai Moana. 
• Review and confirmation of Board priorities. 
• Ngati Porou annual events calendar. 
• Re-strengthening our alliance with Te Whanau a Apanui.
• Profit distribution.
The Runanga applied the $500,000 distribution dividend provided from 
the profits generated by the Ngati Porou Fisheries Company to the 
following:
•  $240,000 48 Ngati Porou Marae were each paid $5000 
• $30,000 to Ngati Porou Takutai Moana
• $21,000 to establish Ngati Porou Marae/Hapu Fisheries Trust
• $30,000 to the Ngati Porou Education Trust Fund
• $30,000 investment in to tatou Ngati Poroutanga 
• $10,000 investment in Ngati Porou East Coast Rugby
• $10,000 for Ngati Porou Achievement Awards
Sub-total   $371,000
The balance of the funds was applied to these activities
• Up to $106,000 on defamation proceedings
• Up to $23,000 on economic development
Sub-total    $129,000
The Runanga also paid grants to: 
• Lion Foundation Rescue Helicopter Trust, $250

• Horouta Waka Ama Club for hosting 2004 
National Waka Ama Long Distance Championships, 
$1,200 
• Tairawhiti Maori Netball Association for hosting 
the 2004 Aotearoa Maori Netball National 
Tournament, $1,000
Sub-total  $2,450
As we close for another year, the Board pays 
tribute to the Chairman and the Chief Executive 
Officer for their role in protecting the reputation 
and integrity of the Runanga. During the past 
12 months attempts have been made to distract 
us from our key objectives. However, we have 
kept our sight on the ‘Big Picture’ and that is the 
assertion and promotion of the mana motuhake 
o Ngati Porou me ona hapu and their cultural, 
economic and social prosperity.

“Moe ana te mata hi tuna
Ora ana te mata hi taua.”

“Mr Mahuika, Ms 
Houkamau, and Te 
Runanga O Ngati Porou 
are pleased that their 
reputations have been 
restored, and that 
this matter has now 
been resolved to their 
satisfaction.”
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ACHIEVEMENTS 1985-2004
Much has been said about what the Runanga has or has not done over the past 19 years.  We thought it timely to provide a 
factual account of these achievements as a basis for informed discussion.
1985
A Ngati Porou Working Party established to develop a proposal for establishment of a Ngati Porou Iwi Authority to represent 
Ngati Porou in its pursuit of social, economic and political aspirations and to become the body corporate to hold in trust on 
behalf of Ngati Porou, the legal title for Hikurangi maunga. These proposals were mooted at the Jan 2–5 1985 Ngati Porou Hui 
Taumata.
1985–87
• Extensive consultation undertaken with Ngati Porou kei te kainga and kei te whenua on the type of legal entity that Ngati 

Porou wanted to establish, the type of representation model and who would be beneficiaries  
• Interim Board of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou appointed
31.8.87
• Radio Ngati Porou established
1.9.87          
• Te Runanga O Ngati Porou bill enacted, becoming a legislated Body Corporate
1988
• First triennial Trustees Elections convened
• TRONP secures Maori Access (Maccess) Programmes and becomes major tertiary training provider
• Funding accessed for construction of Ngati Porou Waka Taua for the 1990 celebrations at Waitangi
•  Mana loans grant of $840,000 transferred to Runanga to support small-medium business growth in Ngati Porou
1989
•  Ngati Porou Forests Limited established
1990
• Pakihiroa Station purchased by Runanga thereby securing for every Ngati Porou person now and for ever a 

“Turangawaewae”
• Ngati Porou Education Taskforce established to determine cohesive Runanga policy on education
• “Te Ara Kainga”- Report from Whanau Development Taskforce (established 1990) presented to Department of Social 

Welfare regarding repatriation of Ngati Porou children in the care of Gisborne’s Social Welfare back into the care of enabled 
and supported whanau

•  Representation at eighth session of United Nations Working Party on Indigenous Population and Minorities in Switzerland
•  Runanga Trustees’ inaugural visit to Ngati Porou Taura Here Roopu (14)
•  “The way forward” a paper on Ngati Porou Marae representation presented as alternative representation model
•  Co-sponsorship of 1990 Celebration at Te Hatepe, Rangitukia
1991
• Crown grants request to designate part of Taitai Maunga as ‘Wahi Tapu’ 
•  Major review of Runanga committees. Mana and Maccess portfolios merged under Employment and Training Committee
•  Triennial Runanga election conducted
1992
• Ngati Porou Forests incorporated under Ngati Porou Whanui Forests Limited
•  Fisheries Settlement Deal opposed by TRONP and majority of Ngati Porou on the grounds it would abrogate NP Treaty 

rights and compromise continued control over customary fisheries
•  April - Ngati Porou Social Services Needs Analysis undertaken
1993
• Inaugural Hikurangi Maunga dawn ceremony commenced
•  Runanga lodges WAI 272 Claim - generic land claim – to ensure all Ngati Porou whanau and hapu lands confiscated by the 

‘pen of the Crown’ are registered with the Waitangi Tribunal
•  Runanga Hapu Social Services Committee established involving 12 Hapu clusters across Ngati Porou rohe
1994
•  TRONP instrumental in advocating for a Hauora service delivery function that covers the whole of NP cultural-geographic 

region and ensures Ngati Porou ownership and control of governance functions of NP Hauora Board
•  Te Whare Wananga o Ngati Porou established as stand alone Private Training Enterprise by the Runanga
•  TRONP triennial elections undertaken including ballot boxes located in Urban centres with large Ngati Porou populations
•  Ngati Porou Housing Report presented to Minister of Housing July 1994 The Low Deposit Rural Lending Programme 

launched as partnership approach with Housing New Zealand in December 1994 and $15 million in mortgage funding 
tagged for NP housing, by the Housing Corporation. Ngati Porou one of the three Iwi LDRLP pilots
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1995
• Inaugural Hui Taurima hosted in Tokomaru Bay to mark “Te Tau o Te Reo Maori”
•  Established Te Taro o te Ora (Community Nutrition Programme), joint venture between TRONP, Te Runanga o Turanganui-a-

Kiwa and Tairawhiti Healthcare
•  TRONP negotiate first major funding package to establish Ngati Porou Hauora (only iwi health organisation providing 

hospital care) and successfully advocate for return of Te Puia Hospital to NPH for five years, then to original owners
 • Establishment of East Coast Safer Communities Council
•  Establish Ngati Porou Education Grants from profits of fisheries and farming activities
1996
•  Integration of Social Services, Safer Communities and Housing Support Services
•  Strategy begun to support Marae delegates attend Te Ohu Kai Moana Hui-a-Tau
•  Puanga Station purchased as complementary farm to Pakihiroa
1997
•  Runanga institutes review of its performance and consultation process “Mana Motuhake Ngati Porou – Future Directions” to 

determine where to in the future, the specific role of the Runanga and the functions it should/should not perform
•  Ngati Porou Parents as First Teachers (PAFT) programme established
1998
•  Develop and receive mandate to implement Te Runanga o Ngati Porou 5-year Strategic Plan
•  Confirmation of Hikurangi Maunga Dawn Event as key event of national Millennium Celebrations
•  Production of Ngati Porou bi-monthly newsletter, Nati Link
•  Chairman Apirana Mahuika and four other Ngati Porou historians and orators assert Ngati Porou’s position in terms of 

‘preliminary question’ – who are the intended recipients of Waitangi Fisheries settlement assets; if iwi, what defines iwi. 
TRONP convincingly argues for promotion and protection of NP’s share of fisheries assets conservatively valued at $44m 

•  First Iwi-Education partnership formed between TRONP and Ministry of Education (MoE) and a Partnership Model 
developed that more accurately reflects the Iwi/Crown partnership inherent in the Treaty of Waitangi

•  ‘Whaia te iti Kahurangi - Strive for the Ultimate’ formalised out of the TRONP/MoE partnership to strengthen education in 
Ngati Porou East Coast communities (mai i Whangara mai Tawhiti ki Potaka)

•  TRONP approved as Level 1A Iwi Social Service Provider under the CYP&F Act
•  Founding member of KIWA Education Partnership, collective of reps from TRONP, TROTAK, Gisborne Education Forum, 

Gisborne District Council and MoE. TRONP enters partnership to ensure education services and aspirations are guaranteed 
to Ngati Porou whanau domiciled within the southern part of the NP rohe

•  WAI 262 “Intellectual Property Rights Claim” hearings in Ngati Porou start in Tokomaru Bay before the Waitangi Tribunal
•  Runanga review completed, over 800 Natis involved, 48 consultation hui mai i Kaikohe ki Murihiku, Ngati Porou ki te Kainga
•  National recognition for progressive work undertaken in Social Services including the following:
•  Ngati Porou Victim Support established
•  First Iwi-sponsored He Oranga Poutama programme, a joint venture between Hillary Commission, Te Puni Kokiri, 

Community Employment Group and the Health Sponsorship Council, promoting and encouraging Maori participation in 
Sports & Recreational activities

•  Social Workers In Schools (SWIS) project introduced
•  Production of NP Customary Fisheries Practices video resource titled “Tangaroa me tana Iwi a Ngati Porou”
1999
•  Hikurangi Maunga returned to NP ownership and control with the vesting of the whole mountain to Ngati Porou, a 

conservation covenant placed over the mountain and covenanted area, and a public access way over Pakihiroa to Maunga 
Hikurangi (after about 10 years of negotiations and discussions)

•  TRONP triennial elections conducted by postal ballot
•  Completion of te waka taua ‘Te Aio o Nukutaimemeha’
•  First TRONP celebration of ‘Te Aranga o Matariki – The start of the Maori New Year’ at Otiki overlooking Te motu a Kaiawa 

-Whangaokena
• Leads country into a new age of ‘Combined Board Governance’ by 

establishing the first national combined school Board of Trustees
•  Becomes principal sponsor of East Coast rugby team on the basis 

that East Coast RFU name the team “Ngati Porou East Coast” – the 
first Iwi rugby team

•  Sponsorship of JAB Rugby with more than 500 tamariki and 
whanau participating in weekly junior rugby matches

•  Distribution of over $60,000 in grants and awards to over 260 
individuals, whanau, hapu, marae, or Taura Here

•  Funding accessed for millennium, $270,000 paid to 30 Ngati 
Porou Marae to undertake millennium activities; TRONP invests in 
creation and construction of Maui Whakairo on Hikurangi Maunga 
and relocates Te Aio o Nukutaimemeha to Waiapu

•  Integration of Housing, Education, Health and Social Services
•  Continued support to Hapu/Community Social Services via 

contracts valued at over $96,000
•  Production of Ngati Porou Marae Calendar

Sunset through the Waha o Ruamoko Hikurangi Maui 
Whakairo site, Hikurangi mountain.
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ACHIEVEMENTS 1985-2004

2000
•  Ngati Porou’s C2000 Launch – Dawn Event on Hikurangi Maunga with the blessing of 12 carvings of Maui Whakairo (This 

was one of the nation’s key dawn events for New Zealand’s Millennium Celebrations)
•  TRONP Tourism wins the TRENZ Expo 2000 Hospitality Award
•  Tuhono Whanau (Family Start) Programme established
•  Ira Tangata Service (Employment Placement Service) established
•  First MOU with NZ Council of Victim Support in recognition of the Treaty partner role to the Crown and joint venture 

approach (Ngati Porou Victim Support Service is unique in that it works with both the victim and the perpetrator)
•  TRONP accesses capacity building funding to enable Hapu to complete their own Hapu Social Services Strategic Plans
•  Establish and convene the NP Commercial Fisheries working party to develop NP commercial fisheries Strategic Plan
2001
•  Inaugural meeting of NP Treaty Claims committee – Te Kura Takai Puni to coordinate and facilitate 19 claims (inclusive of 

WAI 272) lodged with the Tribunal in respect of lands within the NP rohe, towards a Waitangi tribunal hearing
•  Join Tairawhiti Development Taskforce to explore other options for dialoguing with Crown, and to develop relationships 

with Kahungunu ki te Wairoa and Turanganui a Kiwa whanaunga, as well as Gisborne and Wairoa district councils
•  Awhina Tamariki established, new initiative funded by MoE providing support for children with special learning needs 
•  Extensive consultation undertaken (Aug 2000-April 2002) with Ngati Porou kei te kainga and kei te whenua on the draft 

Ngati Porou Commercial Fisheries Strategy
•  Production of Ngati Porou Marae Calendar
2002
•  Tourism Ngati Porou established as a recognised Maori Regional Tourism Organisation (MRTO)
•  Ngati Porou Commercial Fisheries Strategy endorsed for implementation by Ngati Porou Hui a Iwi
•  TRONP in partnership with Ngai Tahu convene a series of hui resulting in the establishment of the Iwi Fisheries Forum
•  TRONP triennial elections conducted
•  Ngati Porou Hapu Manager Position established
2003
• Appointment of Interim Directors to the Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited
•  Fifth anniversary of WTIK and completion of 5-year development framework for MoE and TRONP education plan signalling 

commencement of final evaluation report by the New Zealand Council for Educational Research
•  20th Anniversary of the Ta Apirana Ngata Lectures at Ngata Memorial College celebrating ‘to tatou Ngati Poroutanga’
•  Application filed for investigation to determine the legal status of the lands from Potikirua to Te Toka a Taiau inclusive of 

foreshore and seabed (signalling NP’s clear intent in relation to the foreshore and seabed debate)
•  First Hui a Iwi held on the Government’s Foreshore and Seabed proposal convened at Whangara, TRONP presenters affirm 

NP have a unique position and assert a retention policy because Ngati Porou had not ceded, lost or sold its Takutai Moana
• Ngati Porou Land Development Forum convened in preparation for the Major Regional Initiative
•  TRONP secures Local Levels Solutions funding of $500,000 to invest in the production of the Ngati Porou Employment, 

Hapu Environmental Management and Social Development strategic plans
•  Ngati Porou Tertiary Education Working Party formed
•  Ngati Porou grants, totalling $408,556 paid to Ngati Porou people, 75 percent to NP living away from home
•  Mana loans portfolio reviewed, established that 80 Ngati Porou businesses had been supported and $3 million worth of 

business support loans paid out
2004
•  Local Levels Solutions Programme launched
•  Establishment of the Ngati Porou Marae/Hapu Fisheries Trust working party
•  WTIK’s NZCER Evaluation Report launched by Hon Parekura Horomia Associate Ministry for Education at Tolaga Bay Area 

School (the next 5-10 year phase is named ‘E Tipu E Rea’)
• Initiation of a series of Achievement Awards to acknowledge achievements of Ngati Porou people
•  Production of 2 x 1 hour Documentaries on the Ngati Porou Takutai Moana
•  Runanga established an Education Trust fund that will mature in 2013 
Throughout this period TRONP has sponsored and convened the following Ngati Porou events into a Ngati Porou Annual 
Calendar of Events:
– Hikurangi Dawn Ceremony
– Ngati Porou Inter-marae Sports 

Festival
– Te Aranga a Matariki ( Ngati 

Porou Maori new year 
celebration)

– Ta Apirana Ngata Memorial 
Lectures

– Ngati Porou Hui Taurima 
 (Cultural festival)

Aerial view of Tokomaru Bay.
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• Administration 
support

• Asset management
• Finance 

management
• Human resources 

management
• Hapu 

communications
• Information services
• Trustee services
• Internal audit

• Pakihiroa/Puanga
• Fisheries
• Investments
• Business 

development
  Mana
• Land development
  Farms
• Tourism
  Tourism NP
• Projects
  NP Enterprise

• Iwi Social Services
  Counselling
  Budget Service
  Whanau Support
  Te Whae Atawhai and    

Truancy
• Hapu Development
  Community Nutrition
  Community Injury
  Prevention
  Safer Communities
  Strengthening Families
• Housing
• Whanau development
  Tuhono Whanau and PAFT
• Relationship Management
  Iwi
  Crown
  Business/Private Sector
• Education
  WITK
  KEP
  Iwi Education Partnership
• Resource Management
  Environment Planning
  Monitoring external orgs
• Research and Development
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 
REPORT
Takiri ko te ata ki runga o Hikurangi, 
kei raro a Ngati Porou e hapai ana i nga kaupapa maha noa atu 
hei oranga mo ona whanau mo ona hapu mo ona marae, 
otira mo nga uri whakatipu mai i Potikirua ki te Toka a Taiau

ka huri nga mahara ki te hunga kua ngaro ki te po
rarangi maunga ka tu tonu
rarangi tangata ka ngaro noa
haruru ana hoki te hinganga o nga kaihautu o taku waka auahi ana taku 
raru e

No reira tena tatou katoa
nga  karangaranga huhua e whai whakaaro nei ki enei tumomo ahuatanga

hei mau nga ringa ma nga whakatipuranga tuku iho tuku iho

Introduction
During the last 12 months we have seen competing and divergent 
energies emerge, which, has culminated in a flurry of activities and events 
brought about by:
• our assertion and promotion of Ngati Porou hapu ownership of their 

Takutai Moana 
• the emergence of Local Levels Solution  which affirms hapu and marae 

leadership on  the Ngati Porou domestic front 
• the collaborative efforts of the Runanga and Ngati Porou marae and 

hapu  working together to determine an agreed model for the receipt, 
ownership and management of Ngati Porou’s fisheries assets

• the strengthening of our strategic alliances with Te Whanau a Apanui 
and Ngai Tahu.

However, before focusing on all the exciting initiatives that were 
progressed and the key achievements and successes accomplished, I wish 
to comment briefly on a couple of matters that required some remedial 
attention during the year:
• the defamation action that the Runanga took against Te Tira Mana Hapu 

in response to their spurious allegations against the Runanga.
• the protection and promotion of ‘to tatou Ngati Poroutanga’ as 

a consequence of attempts from a small but persistent group of 
detractors to undermine our collective identity and consciousness as 
the descendants of our eponymous ancestor “Porou- ariki- te matatara- 
a whare-te Tuhi-Mareikura-o-Rauru”

Despite the inimical challenges that we have faced during the past year, 
we have emerged stronger and more resolute in our convictions and 
effort to do what is right and appropriate by Ngati Porou. This has resulted 
in a meritorious improvement in our overall financial position and the 
raising of our sights and ambitions as expressed in our strategic intent.

Principles guiding Ngati Porou conceptual framework
• Iwi / Hapu development / capability building for sustainability
• Values of:
 - Whanau development
 - Engaged Hapu, Marae, Taura Here
 - Ngati Poroutanga
• Collaboration as a means of allowing expertise to be available to largest 

Chief Executive Officer 
Amohaere Houkamau
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“Despite the inimical 
challenges faced during 

the past year, we have 
emerged stronger and 

more resolute in our 
convictions and effort 

to do what is right and 
appropriate by Ngati 

Porou.” 
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LLS Launch at Tuatini Marae, 
Tokomaru Bay, June 2004

possible number of Iwi members at any one time.
The Ngati Porou quadruple bottom line defines a set of outcomes that we 
are committed to;
Cultural relevance and revitalisation
Economic growth and prosperity
Environmental sustainability
Social responsiveness and responsibility 

Cultural Relevance and Revitalisation
Te Runanga o Ngati Porou continues to play a lead role in the promotion 
and protection of to tatou Ngati Poroutanga and this is reflected in:
• our sustained investment in a Ngati Porou Annual Events Calendar  

which include:
 - Hikurangi Maunga Dawn Event
 - Ngati Porou Inter Marae Sports Festival
 - Te Aranga a Matariki
 - Ngati Porou Pakeke Day 
 - Ta Apirana Ngata Memorial Lectures
 - Ngati Porou Hui Taurima
• the transfer of cultural capital and intellectual property to iwi members 

at numerous Ngati Porou Hapu and Marae wananga 
• the design and development of a number of Matauranga Ngati Porou 

resources.

Economic Growth and Prosperity
The Runanga has begun a number of initiatives in the pursuit of a strategy 
that would sustain the level of economic growth that Ngati Porou would 
require to achieve a self-defined state of prosperity.
Part of this strategy has been to change the mind-set and perceptions 
that we have had of ourselves as a consequence of imposed views 
promoted by the media and/or our own self-effacing attitudes and 
thoughts. The Runanga has promoted the notion that Ngati Porou are 
asset rich and should be actively seeking to increase the return on 
their assets and look to re-introduce the conventions employed by our 
ancestors to optimize our bargaining and purchasing power as well as re-
position ourselves as producers and industry leaders.
The Runanga undertook a summary analysis of some of these assets and 
determined that Ngati Porou land, forestry, fisheries and tourism assets 
will be collectively worth in excess of $335m over the next five to eight 
years. This does not include an estimation of individual Ngati Porou 
people’s personal assets.
Therefore, over the next five years we will see a significant increase in the 
cash flow input into the Ngati Porou economy and from this opportunity 

we will be able to leverage up the return on current assets, 
invest in new businesses and re-establish Ngati Porou as a 
thriving and prosperous iwi economy.
In recognising the projected increase in our cash flows 
and accommodating for the recommendations of the 
Mana Loan review that was completed in this financial 
year, the Runanga has agreed to establish a land-based, 
co-investment equity fund .The core principle is to support 
the development of Ngati Porou’s key assets, namely its 
people and its land.
It is clear that until we are able to achieve the cash flow 
levels that we have projected, the potential to transform 
the Ngati Porou regional economy will be constrained by 
the level of available investment capital.   Accordingly we 

are keen to explore ways in which Ngati Porou can partner with other 
parties such as the Maori Trust Office, Iwi Lending facilities and the private 

“The Runanga has begun 
a number of initiatives in 
the pursuit of a strategy 
that would sustain the 
level of economic growth 
that Ngati Porou would 
require to achieve a 
self-defined state of 
prosperity.”
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sector, to generate a solution that can make a significant difference to the 
economic performance of our region.
We have also commenced work on a Ngati Porou Enterprise strategy 
which will be touched on later. The long-term outcome that we are 
seeking is zero unemployment in Ngati Porou through an increase of 
‘front-end’ investment by Government and a corresponding decrease in  
Government deficit  spending over a five to 10 year period.

Environmental Sustainability
The Runanga is committed to working with Ngati Porou Hapu to develop 
their own Environmental Management Strategies through the Local Level 
Solutions project. We began work on supporting hapu and marae to:
• design a set of environmental management success factors based on 

Ngati Porou tikanga
• establish and maintain their own environmental management data 

base
• enhance and build their environmental management capability and 

capacity.
The Runanga is also working on the design of an economic model to 
support hapu to sustain their environmental management capability and 
the development of an environmental management policy framework 
that is approved and adopted by our hapu.
In the next financial year we would seek to establish a national Ngati 
Porou Environmental lobby group to represent our collective views on a 
range of regional, national and global environmental issues and matters.

Social Responsiveness and Responsibility 
Through Local level Solutions we have created an opportunity for dialogue 
and discussion amongst Ngati Porou hapu and marae about their own 
tikanga-based approach to social development that is built on our values 
and strength-based practice.

• Design and develop a Ngati Porou Social Development strategy 
premised on Ngati Porou tikanga and our strength-based practice: 

 - Whakapapa
 - Whanaungatanga
 - Manaakitanga
 - Kaitiakitanga
• Negotiate with the Crown a shared Social Development agenda that 

responds to Ngati Porou’s needs and Crown needs.
• The Runanga will exit service provision as hapu strengthen their 

capacity and capability to provide appropriate , quality services to their 
own whanau.

Te Runanga o Ngati Porou supported by Whaia te iti Kahurangi and the 
NZ Council for Education Research completed an evaluation of WTIK 
which informed our new education framework and defines our goals and 
priorities  for the next 5 –8 years. We have sought to encourage Ministry 
of Education support for our educational developments and have aligned 
the Ministry of Education’s 2003/2004  Statement of Intent with our 
education agenda. The Ministry of Education has committed to a further 
5-8 year partnership premised on shared outcomes.

“...Ngati Porou land, 
forestry, fisheries and 
tourism assets will be 

collectively worth in 
excess of $335m over the 

next five to eight years.”

“The long-term outcome 
that we are seeking is 

zero unemployment in 
Ngati Porou through 
an increase of ‘front-

end’ investment by 
Government and a 

corresponding decrease 
in Government deficit 

spending over a five to 
10 year period.”  
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Local Levels Solution
Te Runanga o Ngati Porou contracted with Te Puni Kokiri under the Local 
Level Solutions programme to produce three strategic plans covering 
enterprise, environmental management and social development by 30 
June 2005. To date we have recruited 20 marae/hapu who have signed 
an agreement of participation and, engaged a multi-disciplinary team 
to support marae and hapu design, develop and test innovative and 
relevant enterprise, environmental and social development initiatives and 
strategies to address their goals and aspirations.

The LLS project has provided us with an opportunity to re-emphasise and 
re-state the complementary roles of Te Runanga o Ngati Porou as the Iwi 
Authority dealing with external dynamics and matter, while our hapu and 
marae provide the leadership within the rohe. It also signals the increasing 
collaborative efforts of the Runanga and Ngati Porou hapu and marae in 
working together on key issues of concern to Ngati Porou .
To ensure the relevancy and durability of the LLS strategies that are 
produced we are seeking to:
• produce a set of policy guidelines to assist our hapu and marae 
• engage with Government  and guide how Government agencies 

respond to our hapu and marae 
• provide hapu and marae with tools, guides and templates to sustain 

their own development agendas. 
In addition, the Runanga has sought additional funding to enable the 
Runanga to include an alternative energy and investment component 
to the LLS programme. This will provide the Runanga with the ability to 
scope out a fully-integrated development framework that is consistent 
with our quadruple bottom-line and is based on:
I  nvestment
S ocial Development (People)
E nvironment
E nergy
E nterprise
“Investing in people and the environment gives us the energy for 
enterprise.”

Ngati Porou Marae/Hapu Trust Working Party
At  the 2003 Runanga Hui a Tau, a 
resolution was made requesting 
that the Runanga urgently address 
the matter of establishing the Ngati 
Porou Marae/ Hapu Trust  for the 
purposes of:
• collectively holding the fisheries 

assets in trust for all Ngati Porou 
Hapu and Marae

• establishing their collective of the 
Ngati Porou fisheries assets

• appointing the directors of NPFL
• setting and monitoring NPFL’s 

performance targets
• approving NPFL’s constitution, 

charter and strategic plan
• approving the profit distribution 

formula and policy.

Marae and Hapu
Reference Group

Social development

Environment Enterprise

Hapu/
Marae

Environmental 
project team

Social development 
project team

Enterprise 
project team

Hapu/
MaraeHapu/

Marae
Hapu/
Marae

Hapu/
Marae

Hapu/
Marae

Marae and Hapu Reference Group
model agreed at 19.05.04 MHRG meeting

“To date we have 
recruited 20 marae/

hapu who have 
signed an agreement 

of participation and, 
engaged a multi-

disciplinary team to 
support marae and 

hapu design, develop 
and test innovative and 

relevant enterprise, 
environmental and social 

development initiatives 
and strategies to 

address their goals and 
aspirations.”
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“When we consider 
that about one person 
in every three living 
in the Gisborne/East 
Coast district is of 
Ngati Porou descent, 
the significance of our 
land-holding interests 
and our contribution to 
the cultural, economic 
and social profile of the 
region, we cannot help 
but be involved.”

In April 2004, the first Ngati Porou Marae/Hapu Fisheries Trust working 
party was convened and therein commenced a series of meetings and 
discussions. The working party has progressed at a pace and in a manner 
that has suited the majority of marae/hapu participants while being 
cognisant of the other significant issues that Ngati Porou has had to 
contend with.  We are now at the stage where a team of Ngati Porou legal, 
tax, and commercial advisors and the chairperson of the working party 
and Runanga representatives have been designing a preferred Ngati 
Porou Fisheries ownership and management model which meets a range 
of criteria including:
• the principles determined by the working party
• underpinned by sound commercial imperatives
• optimised tax benefits
• compliance with the Maori Fisheries Act.
We hope that this preferred model will be signed off by Ngati Porou hapu/
marae before the end of this calendar year.

Regional Development
Ngati Porou are a key stakeholder group within the Tairawhiti region 
and as such the Runanga has been obliged to sustain our proactive 
involvement in the Tairawhiti Development Taskforce. When we consider 
that about one person in every three living in the Gisborne/East Coast 
district is of Ngati Porou descent, the significance of our land-holding 
interests and our contribution to the cultural, economic and social profile 
of the region we cannot help but be involved.
In this financial year the Runanga committed $150,000 to the Tairawhiti 
Major Regional Initiative, which focuses on raising the productivity of 
lands within Tairawhiti, targeting Maori lands. The Runanga investment 
will be applied to supporting Ngati Porou landowners who have small 
land interests who want to cluster together, to take advantage of the four 
lead projects that the MRI has identified.
The Chairman of the Runanga has consistently promoted Ngati Porou 
issues and advocated  for Ngati Porou interests  at the Taskforce board 
table, while I have continued to dedicate significant energy and time 
to the workings of the Co-ordinating committee and to co-chair the 
Taskforce Social Development Forum.

Performance against set priorities 
We have not progressed work on the following priorities set last year:
• review of the current legislation under which the Runanga operates 
• substantive analysis of Runanga representation models, albeit that 

some preliminary discussions have occurred as part of the Marae/Hapu 
Fisheries Trust  working party hui

• registering interest with TOKM to be assessed as a Mandated Iwi 
Organisation.  We will register our interest once the Ngati Porou Marae/
Hapu Fisheries Trust and the agreed Ngati Porou Fisheries ownership 

Ngati Porou pakeke performing at the 
2003 Hui Taurima, Porourangi Marae.



and management model have been agreed 
• Due to a lack of resources  we were unable to do any substantive work 

on optimising our IT capacity to improve communication.
We have made significant progress:
• affirming the unique position of Ngati Porou whanau and hapu 

in respect to their uninterrupted and undisturbed authority and 
ownership of  our Takutai Moana

• towards establishing our Marae/Hapu Fisheries Trust, expected to be 
completed in the next few months.

• a meritorious increase in our profit margin, compared with previous 
financial year

• towards completing our economic strategy; completed the review of 
the previous targets established at the 1985 Ngati Porou Economic 
Summit; and well under way in preparation for the 2004 Ngati Porou 
Economic Summit, 11–13 November.

Performance 
Finally, I would like to acknowledge the Runanga staff, with special thanks 
to Hinerau Paenga, the senior management team and the administration 
staff for all their effort , commitment and output throughout the year. 
I wish to also pay tribute to the invaluable contribution and steadfast 
commitment that Yvonne Williams has dedicated to the financial 
management capacity of the Runanga for the past 17 years, and to 
recognise the loss that the organisation felt when she retired this year. 
To the Chairman of the Runanga, your whanau and those Trustees who 
have been constantly and unequivocally committed to Ngati Porou 
development and to fulfilling your fiduciary responsibilities and collective 
trusteeship of the Runanga, my sincere thanks and appreciation.
No reira, tena tatou katoa

Amohaere Houkamau

“Na wai te koau ka ruku
ki te aromaunga e peka.”
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 

HIGHLIGHTS
• 2004 Inter Marae Sports 

Festival with a total of 
22 Ngati Porou Marae 
participating and about 
8000 Nati attending.

• Completion of stage one of 
our Ngati Porou education 
strategy, “Whaia te iti 
Kahurangi” and the launch 
of stage two E tipu e rea

• Inaugural Nati Awards, 
showcasing information 
technology expertise 
and competency of our 
tamariki/tai-tamariki while 
celebrating unique hapu 
characteristics and nuances.

•  At the conclusion of this 
calendar year, four Ngati 
Porou personalities will 
have received Honorary 
Doctorates, Dr Witi 
Ihimaera, Dr Apirana 
Mahuika, Dr Paratene Ngata 
and Dr Te Kapunga ( Koro) 
Dewes. This must be an Iwi 
first….

• The principle-based 
approach we have taken 
in our Takutai Moana 
negotiations with the 
Crown, which is based on 
the strength of our tikanga, 
the strength of our legal 
ownership and the strength 
of our resolve to retain that 
which is ours, nothing more 
and nothing less.

• The review of the 1985 
Ngati Porou Hui Taumata, 
and the development of 
the economic drivers and 
targets that will carry us 
into and beyond the year 
2030.

From left: Mary Sinclair, Ministry of Education; Cathy Wyllie, NZCER, Parekura Horomia, 
Associate Minister of Education, Amohaere Houkamau, CEO Te Runanga o Ngati Porou.
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CORPORATE SERVICESFOCUS STATEMENT
To provide quality 
administration services to 
assist the Runanga achieve 
its goals.

Human resource management
GOALS 2003-2004
• Review staff remuneration
 We began the review of staff remuneration through our participation 

in the 2004 EMA annual salary survey. This task will be completed in the 
first half of the 2004/05 year.

• Co-ordinate staff training
 Staff attended a range of training opportunities. Professional 

development was also facilitated through staff  transferring to other 
positions in the Runanga.

• The Employers and Manufacturers Association reviewed all 
organisational employment agreements as a result of amendments to 
the Holidays Act.

Salary Bands as at 30 June 2004

From $ To $ Total Staff 
0 9999 1

10000 19999 5
20000 29999 10
30000 39999 33
40000 49999 9
50000 59999 5
60000 69999 1
70000 79999 0
80000 89999 0
90000 99999 1

  65

Total Number of Staff 

Branch Number
Hapu Development 45
Economic Development 6
Corporate Services 14
Total 65
  
Part Time Employees 7
Full Time Employees 58

Information technology
GOALS 
Improve IT capability and capacity

Communications
GOALS
• Optimise Runanga’s communications tools to ensure meaningful 

improvements in the flow of information to and from the Runanga.
• Access funding to improve the beneficiaries database.
Work on our communications strategy was progressed with the 
appointment of a full-time communications co-ordinator. A satisfaction 
survey of Nati Link was completed this year. The main concern expressed 
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Finance Team (from left) Monty Manuel, 
Yvonne Williams, Kotiro Te Iringa and 

(inset) Frances Grant. 

was the irregularity and timelines of the Nati Link; the highlight was the 
Nati-centric focus. 
The significant improvement in the formatting and layout of the 2003 
Annual Report resulted in our inability to keep up with demand, albeit 
that we had printed 1000 copies.

Participation in Ngati Porou events
Inter-marae sports 8000 
Hui Taurima 1500 
Hikurangi Dawn Ceremony 200 
TRONP Birthday and Pakeke Celebration 200   
    
Forms of communications
Information Packs 2324
Flyers 1000
Staff Panui 6
Radio sessions 39
Newspaper articles  38
Nati Link 4

We submitted a funding proposal to review our Information database 
capacity which has been approved for the 2004/05 year. The review will 
include the production of a scoping report to establish a fully integrated 
database that will enable the Runanga to achieve greater reporting 
efficiencies to our beneficiaries, funders and other key stakeholder groups. 

Financial & asset management 
GOAL
Increase revenue and sustain the maximum value on all our assets.
• Corporate Services achieved a slight increase in revenue. 
• The 2003-2004 budget was submitted to the Minister of Maori Affairs for 

approval in June 2003  and a budget reforecast in March 2004.
• Small increase in assets. 
Yvonne Williams our longest serving Runanga employee retired  from her 
position as Senior Accounts Manager this year after  17 years’ continuous 
service and Monty Manuel has stepped up to take on the management of 
finances.

Trustees’ services
• Upgrading Board secretary position to a fulltime position.
• Organising and supporting 16 Board meetings and a number of  Hui a 

Iwi and taura here meetings.
• Preparation of monthly board reports including full financial reports.

Outlook 
• Review internal HR Systems and practices.
• Review of Administration Support Services.
• Complete Staff Salary Review.
• Fully operationalise Communication strategy.
• Establish Internal Health & Safety Committee.
• Design a Capital Asset replacement Programme.
• Review our internal financial systems.
• Improve and Increase our beneficiary database.
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ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Goal One
To support Ngati Porou development through sustaining an optimum 
return on the Ngati Porou assets that are managed by the Runanga 
OBJECTIVES
1. Mana Loans
Complete the Mana Loans review and implement the recommendations 
with a view to scoping alternative financial support packages for business 
development.
2. Policy development
Inform and influence regional and national forums to ensure the needs of 
Ngati Porou are addressed at all levels. 
3. Tourism
• Ensure the values and cultural standards established by Tourism Ngati 

Porou as the MRTO are maintained
• Develop the Maui Whakairo and Te Aio Nukutaimemeha as key Ngati 

Porou tourism attractions
• Co-ordinate the visitor traffic on Mount Hikurangi to ensure all safety, 

farming and cultural requirements are met.

Goal Two
To support Ngati Porou Whanau and Hapu to achieve optimum return on 
their assets and resources
OBJECTIVES
• To support the Ngati Porou Maori Landowners Forum through the 

provision of regular information sharing opportunities.
• To provide a brokerage service for whanau and hapu who wish to 

develop or expand their business development interests, with a 
particular focus on tourism and land-based industry.

• To provide professional advice to whanau and hapu members who need 
assistance with developing business plans and access to venture capital.

• To support whanau and hapu enhance their own awareness and 
skills through improved access to training and business development 
workshops.

STRATEGIC FOCUS
•  Implement the recommendations arising out of the mana loans review.
• Progress the establishment of Tourism Ngati Porou.
•  Contribute to the achievement of the Local Level Solutions project, 

specifically the enterprise outcomes.
•  Assist Ngati Porou entrepreneurs grow their businesses.
•  To contract directly with NZTE to deliver the Enterprise Training 

Programmes on the East Coast. 
•  Maintain  macro-overview of key business enterprise and investment 

developments.
•  Develop relationships with agencies to assist Ngati Porou take 

advantage of developmental opportunities for the general benefit of 
nga uri o nga hapu o Ngati Porou mai i Potikirua ki te Toka a Taiau. 

SUCCESSFUL TEAM INITIATIVE
Enterprise Training Programme 
Thirteen BIZ workshops on a range of topics including fisheries  
management, tourism, organics and land development were delivered 
throughout Ngati Porou. 

VISION
The restoration of a 
thriving and properous 
Ngati Porou economy.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

Participants at the Land Development Hui 
at Mangarua Marae in October 2003.
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PRIORITIES FOR 2004/05
• Complete negotiations with all existing Mana Loan Clients to reach 

loan settlement. 
• Scope the establishment of a Ngati Porou Investment Trust. 
•  Complete Enterprise Strategy in consultation with marae to 

present to Te Puni Kokiri (TPK) by 30 June 2005.
• Progress funding opportunities to support research into 

alternative energy 
• Establish “one-stop-shop” to provide support and up-to-date 

information to new and existing business.
• Secure Enterprise Training programme contract.
• Support existing and emerging tourism operators to meet marketing, 

workforce development and investment objectives.

TOURISM NGATI POROU
OUR PEOPLE OUR PLACE OUR WAY OUR HOME

SUCCESSFUL TEAM INITIATIVES
Maori Regional Tourism Operator
Hosted two-day Maori Regional Tourism hui attended by Associate 
Minister for Tourism Dover Samuels,  representatives of the major national 
tourism agencies and over 180 Ngati Porou people interested in tourism.
Tourism Standards
The Runanga Tourism Co-ordinator was appointed to the Maori Tourism 
Standards working party,  who developed the Level 3, 4 and 5 NZ Tourism 
Maori Qualifications which have been registered on the NZQA framework 
and will lead towards the Diploma in Maori Tourism. 
Mount Hikurangi
• Improved all information and safety procedures and protocols for 

visitors and tourists going up the mountain. 
•  Updated visitor information on Ngati Porou website. 

PRIORITIES FOR 2004/05
Tourism Ngati Porou (TNP) will assist the development of tourism 
amongst Ngati Porou  whanau, hapu and marae through:
• facilitating operator training
•  supporting establishment of Iwi Tourism Network and progressing 

discussions with Ngai Tahu iwi
•  developing guided tours
•  restoring and preserving the waka
•  developing distinctive Ngati Porou roadside signage 

throughout rohe
•  opening first Ngati Porou Tourist Information Centre 

in Ruatoria
•  renovating Raparapaririki Homestead. 
•  seeking equity in Regional Tourism Organisation 

funding, currently provided by Gisborne District 
Council to Tourism Eastland

•  positioning Ngati Porou and the East Coast as key 
destination for domestic and international markets

•  providing co-ordination and support to Ngati Porou 
operators

•  supporting effective integration and packaging of 
Tourism Ngati Porou products. 

Tourism Ngati Porou exists to:
• ensure tourism is managed 

and developed, in a manner 
consistent with Ngati Porou 
cultural, economic and 
social aspirations

• facilitate Ngati Porou 
Whanau, Hapu, Marae into 
the business and activity of 
tourism 

• position Ngati Porou and 
the East Coast as a key 
destination for international 
and national tourists

• secure regional and 
national tourism 
recognition for Tourism 
Ngati Porou as a lead Iwi 
Tourism operation 

• develop and establish 
tourism as a viable and 
sustainable industry.
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Maori Regional Tourism Hui held at Rahui Marae, Tikitiki.

Ngati Porou Tourism Information Centre, Ruatoria.
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PAKIHIROA STATION 
AND PUANGA STATION
Prices for sheep, especially lamb, remained solid throughout the year but 
beef prices declined further as a result of the continued strengthening of 
the $NZ against the $US. The farming season itself was punctuated by a 
very dry spell through February and March followed by consistently wet 
weather through the balance of autumn and the start to winter. All these 
factors combined to produce a lower than budgeted cash financial result.

FOCUS FOR THE YEAR ending 2004 was to:
1. Lift sheep production Target 120% lambing, survival to sale, finish 
2400 lambs and keep wastage below 5%.
Results
• 4393 lambs produced from 3358 ewes wintered. This result is 131% 

survival to sale. This result is heading in the right direction.
• 1867 lambs finished before season end (1694 held over to winter), 433 

fewer than budgeted. The dry spell through February and March put 
paid to this target.

• Sheep wastage calculated at 3.4%, 1.6% below budget. A good result.
2. Improve cattle finishing policies

Result Steps  taken to align finishing policies to pasture growth patterns. 
Information provided by monthly monitoring of feed demand against 
feed supply on each farming block is used to adjust stock carried or boost 
feed supplies through using nitrogen. Thirty extra head of cattle were 
purchased early in the season to eat surplus feed on Puanga. However, the 
dry spell through February and March and the strong $NZ took some of 
the gloss off what was shaping up to be a good season. Despite this 583 
head of cattle were sold against 571 head budgeted.
3. Improving stock handling facilities, especially on Puanga

Result Major repairs and reconstruction of the Puanga yards were 
completed and a new cattle head bale installed at Pakihiroa. Balance of 
work limited to maintenance.
4. Continued subdivision, to improve stock management/pasture utilisation
Result Subdivision of the farms has been part of an annual programme 
since 2001. Puanga now has 70 paddocks (started with 25); Pakihiroa has 
40 paddocks and a central laneway (20 paddocks, no laneway). Most of 
this work has been done with electric fencing.
5. Further capital investment in fertiliser

Result $144,000 spent on fertiliser, equates to $11.50/su (about $6/su 
above maintenance levels). Fertiliser application will be pegged at 
maintenance levels for 2005 since overall Olsen P levels have been lifted 
from 6 to a range of 13-42 where 20-25 are the economic target levels.
6. Continued improvement of water reticulation on both properties
Result Held over due to unavailability of labour and machinery at required 
time. Not an issue because of available natural water and plentiful rain.
7. Completion of the conservation fencing
Result Not completed in required time due to unavailability of labour. 
When labour became available, work was hampered by wet weather in 
the last quarter of the season. A further consequence of the wet weather 
was the inability to cross the Tapuaeroa River followed by major damage 
to the access track. DOC funding for project extended by another year.
8. Commence conservation planting and land retirement plan under 
the ECFP scheme.
Result Planting delayed due to lack of supply of plant material, a 
nationwide problem. Over 8000 plus poles now sourced and planted.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS

1. Starting to get a return on 
the investment that the 
management committee 
had made in the property 
as demonstrated by 
major increases in sheep 
production, marked 
improvement in soil fertility, 
and being able to manage 
feed supply to a greater 
level with the increase in 
sub-division.

2. More direct involvement 
with other farming 
properties in the area 
through the Tapuaeroa 
Valley project. 

3. The farm businesses to 
move towards a more 
autonomous structure 
under TRONP to allow 
greater flexibility in 
decision-making which 
should allow more 
opportunities to be realised.

“ Whatungarongaro te 
tangata 
toitu te whenua.”
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SUMMARY
A variable result for the year but fortunately some projects were able 
to be extended a further year or completed later than expected. The 
improvement in cattle production is noteworthy with a 4.6% lift in 
calving percentage on last year’s 87.9%; losses reduced to less than 1% 
(attributable to more secure paddocks allowing easier management).

TEAM INITIATIVES
1. Pakihiroa Committee looked at improving the business of operating 

TRONP’s farming arm. A structure may be formed to give greater 
flexibility to decision-making on farm and for investment opportunities 
while maintaining a strong accountability process to TRONP.

2. Pakihiroa Committee continues to support the Ngati Porou landowners’ 
forum as a way of disseminating information across the rohe.

3. Facilitating the opportunity to combine farming systems for interested 
farms in the Tapuaeroa Valley and beyond. The focus of best land use 
for each property is used to drive production, especially breeding ewes, 
to improve financial bottom lines. Also using the combined strength of 
properties to look at other farming and marketing opportunities.

4. Entry into the Ahi Whenua Cup for the top Maori farming business 
in the region was a valuable experience for the committee and farm 
staff. Although unsuccessful, Pakihiroa had a positive review. Useful 
benchmarking information was obtained.

OVERALL FINANCES for the station
 2003-2004 2002-2003
Farming Income 739,263 862,552
Farming Expenses 798,957 440,952
Net cash (loss) (59,694) 421,600
plus farm stock holding 
gain (loss) 187,297 (276,585)

Net farming surplus $127,605 $145,015

A strong sheep market and slight increase in cattle sold helped achieve 
this positive result, despite being $17,410 (12%) down on last year. The 
result highlights the stations’ struggle over the year with declining beef 
prices and heavy rain events in the latter half of the season.  Increased 
expenditure, $358,000 ahead of last year, resulted from the purchase of 
more cattle, increased fertiliser use, fencing, animal health (pour-on dips 
and slow-release drench capsules), cartage and fuel costs .

NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET will include:
• Target of 135% lambing and all ewe hoggets mated.
• Further improvement for stockyard facilities. 
• Complete conservation fencing and water 

reticulation on Pakihiroa.
• Revisit farm tracks to clean up damage caused by 

heavy rain events.
• Return fertiliser inputs to maintenance levels, 

Pakihiroa committee to reassess next capital 
development stage, recover some capital costs. 

• Costs incurred with ECFP project (70% budgeted) to 
come back immediately with balance carried over 
next five years.

• Tapuaeroa Valley project will incur small portion of 
costs to get it going. Expect this to be returned via 
MRI project and other funding agencies.

• Complete establishment of Pakihiroa Farming Ltd by 
February/March 2005; in full operation by year-end.

“ Te toto o te tangata he 
kai, te oranga o te tangata 

he whenua.”

Staff (from left) Pat Boyle, manager Regan 
Poi and Toby Hohapata on Pakihiroa 

Station.
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NGATI POROU FISHERIES LTD
The year has been a successful one for NPFL. The company has engaged 
a General Manager and is now positioning itself to develop in the fishing 
industry.  It has also been a tough year with significant shocks to the 
fishing industry and these have had an adverse affect on income.  Despite 
this, NPFL have performed well and achieved the forecast profit targets.

ACHIEVEMENTS
• Maintaining income in line with last year despite worsening economic 

conditions.
• Appointment of Ngarangi Bidois (nee Kaa) as General Manager.
• Progress towards allocation.
• Payment of $500,000 in dividends which enabled $240,000 of grants 

paid out to marae.
• 25% increase in total assets.
• 25% increase in retained earnings.
• Commenced the development of infrastructure.
• Consolidating and building on relationships with iwi and commercial 

partners.

The majority of NPFL’s income is derived from sales of Quota ACE.  This 
annual right to catch fish is received from Te Ohu Kai Moana each year 
and is sold on by NPFL to companies that meet our selection criteria.  Over 
the years Ngati Porou have developed good commercial relationships 
with other iwi in the Tairawhiti district and also with other iwi-owned 
fishing companies.  As a result, NPFL has been able to obtain excellent 
prices for Ngati Porou ACE and negotiate support for Ngati Porou fishing 
businesses by enabling access to Ngati Porou quota.  There are currently 
three Ngati Porou fishing businesses directly supported by access to Ngati 
Porou quota and as a result at least seven Ngati Porou fishers are actively 
employed at fishing.

Financial Results for Year ended June 2004

Net Quota Income $ 1,303,232
Interest Received $      96,696
Operating Expenses $    246,465
Net Profit $ 1,153,462
 

The Wetfish and Crayfish ACE rounds were successful with NPFL managing 
to negotiate prices that kept the income in line with last year and above 
forecast.  This is despite worsening economic conditions for exporters with 
the NZ dollar increasing during the year by a further 8% against the US 
dollar.  These currency woes have been coupled with poor catches in the 
Hoki fishery and a 37.5% cut to the CRA3 fishery and again poor catches 
during times when the value of crayfish is high.  These two fisheries make 
up a reasonable proportion of NPFL’s income and any adverse impacts 
to these fisheries have a marked impact on the income for NPFL.  Further 
problems causing weak prices have been caused because the Asian 
markets have still not fully recovered from the SARS virus and threats of 
terrorism are having an impact on the travelling and eating habits across 
the globe and particularly in some of our major markets.  The costs of 
accessing Quota from Te Ohu Kai Moana also increased 35% above the 
previous year.

KAUPAPA/VISION
Me tiaki, me ahu, 
me whakanui i nga 
kaimoana, me te moana 
hoki, kia puta mai he hua 
mo ake tonu ake.

To manage protect and 
enhance Ngati Porou’s 
seafood resources 
and environment 
in a profitable and 
sustainable manner for 
the future.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004
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Costs were well below forecast. This is largely due to 
salaries being lower than forecast as the General Manager 
was not appointed until January 2004 but was budgeted 
for the entire year.  Directors’ fees were lower than 
forecast and also interest costs were not incurred during 
the year as no borrowing had been undertaken.
 
Audit Report
This year, Ngati Porou Fisheries engaged an independent 
auditor to audit their financial statements.  The Directors 
are pleased to announce they have received an 
unqualified opinion of the company’s financial accounts.

Dividend Distribution
NPFL distributed $500,000 in dividends during the year.  This makes a 
total of $947,000 in dividends distributed since 2002.  These distributions 
have enabled TRONP to distribute $240,000 per year to marae.  A 
dividend of $460,000 is expected to be declared against the 2004 profits.

KEY ISSUES
• Allocation will be one of the key issues for NPFL during the next 12 

months.  Securing the Ngati Porou fisheries assets permanently into 
Ngati Porou control will be a cause for celebration.  It is critical that 
our internal structure be sorted out so that allocation is not held up.  
To this end, NPFL is working with TRONP and key advisors to ensure 
compliance with the soon to be passed Maori Fisheries Act 2004 and 
to find a structure that will give effect to the resolutions of the Hapu/
Marae working group.  

• Development of an investment strategy is of critical importance to be 
completed so that opportunities can be taken as soon as allocation 
takes effect.

• NPFL are looking to increase Ngati Porou involvement in the local 
in-shore fishing industry and promote Ngati Porou viewpoints at an 
industry level.

• Relocating to permanent offices is expected to occur within the next 12 
months to provide better working space for staff.

2004 -2005 OUTLOOK
The next 12 months in the fishing industry will continue to be tough.  
Since the 30 June the TACC for the Hoki fishery has been cut from 
180,000MT to 100,000MT following poor catching seasons.  CRA3 stocks 
remain under pressure, beach prices are well down and forecast sales 
prices are expected to remain weak.  There seems to be no let up to 
the strong NZ dollar especially against the US and these pressures will 
continue the downward impact on the prices 
received for our quota.
NPFL, however, will be seeking opportunities 
to expand its activities and more effectively 
utilise its current asset base to ensure profits 
are in line with forecasts and returns continue 
for its shareholder.  A percentage of the profits 
are being retained each year by the company 
to reinvest and grow the company’s assets in 
accordance with its strategic plan.
It is expected that allocation will occur some time in the next 12 months 
and that Ngati Porou will be well set to receive their assets as early as 
possible.  The company will continue to develop its longer term plans to 
enable it to optimise the opportunities that will avail themselves once the 
assets are within Ngati Porou control.

NPFL Directors
Whaimutu Dewes – Chair
Bill Burdett
Dean Moana
Mark Ngata
Kody Pewhairangi
Heni Poutu
Directors’ Fees are $8000 each, 
Chair $10,000.

NPFL Staff
Ngarangi Bidois, General Manager
Bobby Reedy, Office Administrator
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NPFL directors (from left) Bill Burdett, 
Heni Poutu,Whaimutu Dewes, Dean 

Moana and Kody Pewhairangi.
 Absent: Mark Ngata



IWI SOCIAL SERVICES comprises:
• Social Workers in Schools
• East Coast Truancy
• Budgeting
• Whanau Support
• Counselling Programmes.

TE RUNANGA O NGATI POROU

WHANAU HAPU DEVELOPMENT

IWI SOCIAL SERVICES

STATEMENT OF 
COMMITMENT
Kia mau te mana o te whanau, 
te hapu me te iwi.
The mana of the whanau is 
recognised at all times.  This 
principle requires whanau 
participation in decision- 
making and the right to 
challenge decisions made on 
their behalf.

Ngati Porou Iwi Social 
Services is committed to the 
care and protection of all 
Ngati Porou mokopuna and 
will ensure that their policies 
and practices are reflective of 
this.
Te Runanga O Ngati Porou 
makes the following 
commitments to Social 
Services practice:
• All services will improve the 

social wellbeing of whanau, 
hapu, iwi.

• A long term focus on 
preserving and maintaining 
the sanctity of whanau and 
hapu as essential socio-
economic units within iwi 
society.

• The mana of the whanau 
will be respected by 
working alongside them to 
provide for the safety and 
security of their mokopuna.

• Issues of concern will be 
resolved by building on 
strengths that already exist 
within whanau, hapu and 
iwi.

Iwi Social Service’s Vision Statement 
and Statement of Commitment 
speak directly to philosophies, values 
and beliefs that underpin service 
delivery at a practical level. However, 
our uniqueness as a social services 
provider is found in our obligation 
to maintain a focus on the contribution our practice makes to the cultural, 
economic, social and political well-being of all Ngati Porou. 

GOALS AND OBJECTIVES FOR 2003-2004
• Maximise Iwi Social Services’ growth through developing stronger 

service links with Hapu Social Services and other Ngati Porou groups.
• Continue focus on further developing quality service delivery standards.
• Continue delivery of contracted services within context of Runanga’s 

vision, mission and guiding principles – managing dual obligations.

ACHIEVEMENTS
• Rangatahi programmes were implemented across Ngati Porou through 

joint venture approach with the following groups: Te Kura Kaupapa O 
Te Waiu O Ngati Porou, Ngata Memorial College, Te Araroa Progressive 
Association, Te Aowera/Te Aitanga a Mate Hapu Development Unit, 
Rangatahi In Action Live Longer, Uawa; and the Hicks Bay Boxing Club.

• Financial support was provided to Gisborne community organisations 
servicing Ngati Porou whanau and hapu.

• Secured ongoing funding for the East Coast Safer Communities Council 
from Crime Prevention Unit.

• Contributed to 43 whanau securing homes through the delivery 
of budget workshop as component of Low Deposit Rural Lending 
programme.

• Provide supervisory oversight to Family Start practitioners.
• Successfully negotiated an extension of our budget services contract 

ensure the delivery of budget services to East Coast clients.
• Capacity to resource Early Prevention Programmes for rangatahi has 

been built into Social Workers in Schools (SWIS).
The focus for the year was to work with and support community groups, 
marae and other organisations working with young people.  

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

Advisory Roles representing 
TRONP:
• Tairawhiti District Health Well 

Child funding committee
• Tairawhiti Youth Development 

Strategy
• KIWA Iwi Reference group.
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EXTERNAL FACTORS INFLUENCING THE SERVICE
• Work and Income policies regarding:

 • food bank strategy needs to be aligned with client needs
• supplementary income criteria needs to be aligned with the 

Government’s new policy on Families Into Work
• caregivers are not aware of their entitlements under the Caregiver 

Allowance scheme. 
 • Restrictive incomes limit whanau options:

• homebuyers struggling to meet mortgage payments. 
• limited availability and supply of affordable rental accommodation. 

IWI SOCIAL SERVICES’ RESPONSE
• Relationship Building
 Forging a relationship with key organisations
• Education
 Increasing the number of budget education presentations that we 

deliver as part of the Runanga’s Low Deposit Rural Lending Programme 
(although we are funded to provide this service) 

• Working creatively, combining our SWIS/Truancy officer positions 
enables us to employ four people on fulltime contracts to 
simultaneously address the absenteeism, the factors leading to the 
absenteeism and minimise disruptions caused through dealing with 
different staff.

 
PRIORITIES FOR 2004/05

• Leverage  up hapu development from the growth and expansion of Iwi 
Social Services. 

• Implement hapu budget training to increase the number of on-the-
ground budget support workers with ongoing mentoring support from 
Runanga Budget Services staff.    

• Improve quality of service delivery.
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GOALS & OBJECTIVES 2003-2004 
• Investigate joint ventures with finance institutions.
• Complete governance partnership negotiations between Runanga 

and Housing New Zealand Corporation (HNZC) Board.
• To have the first agency of the Ngati Porou Credit Union agency 

operating.
• Complete Special Housing Action Zones (SHAZ) Project.
• Fully scope all essential and urgent repairs’ profiles for our clients who 

are on the Northland, East Coast, Bay of Plenty (NECBOP) Project.
• Support a minumum of 35 Ngati Porou whanau to achieve home 

ownership.
• Complete Ngati Porou Housing Response Plan and complete 

negotiations with HNZC to implement recommendations.

Key Task 1:  
Secure additional staff in order to research and/or develop:

	 •	alternative	and	innovative	housing	options
	 •	economic	development	models	for	sustaining	a	viable	Ngati	Porou		

 housing industry
	 •	training	and	employment	opportunities	within	the	Ngati	Porou		 	

 building industry
	 •	options	for	use	of	local	labour	and	local	materials
	 •	reducing	the	income	barrier	ro	affordable	housing.
OUR APPROACH
• Provided alternative, affordable option for housing 17 whanau
 – Pinehill Project: 
 HNZC advised the Runanga it had surplus rental stock in Wellington 

and offered a package that included the purchase, relocation and 
establishment of houses with access, water supply, septic tanks and 
power for a heavily discounted price. Most of the whanau who took 
advantage of this package paid between $45,000-$65,000 for their 
houses, valued at about $100,000-$120,000.

• Economic models researched
 – We originally planned to set up the first Ngati Porou Credit Union by 

June 30, 2004.  However, it was agreed to hold off until 2005 to ensure 
that communties were fully enabled and supported to operate and run 
the Credit Union.

• Establishment of a Ngati Porou Building Company
 – We have established a Ngati Porou Trades database which also 

includes information on surveyors, conveyancy lawyers etc. The 
database has 21 tradespeople registered with nine builders (8 qualified);  
six electricians (6 qualified);  three plumbers/drainlayers (3 qualified); 
three painters/paperhangers/plasterers (all qualified).  Six of these 
tradespeople are already subcontracting through the Runanga to 
undertake contract work with HNZC.

• Continued support to local Whanau Trust investigating adobe brick 
housing

Key Task 2:  
Address Ngati Porou/Crown housing solutions that require a partnership 
approach
OUR APPROACH
• Joint Runanga and HNZC hui 
 HNZC chairperson Roger Bonifant and board member Paul White visited 

Ngati Porou in November 2003 to gain a first-hand update on housing 
developments, identify barriers to progressing projects and discuss 

SUCCESSFUL INITIATIVES 
Facilitated:
• electrical and gas home 

safety seminars 
• energy efficiency 

workshops 
• alternative energy 

workshops 
Provided:
• improved communication 

responsibility to all 
our clients through 
the publication of our 
Housing Herald panui 

 • administrative and 
contract support to Ngati 
Porou which enabled 
them to secure sub-
contract work with HNZC.

STATEMENT OF INTENT
• To ensure optimum use 

of housing resources 
and products available 
to the local Iwi/Regional 
economy

• The development 
of a fully integrated 
programme which 
sustains a supply of 
affordable, quality 
homes to Ngati Porou 
and minimises leakage 
from the Iwi/Regional 
economy.

• To be creative and 
efficient in meeting 
our own whanau/hapu 
housing needs.

HOUSING
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establishing a governance-to-governance relationship bewteen the 
HNZC board and the Runanga.  

• Progressing agreement to develop high-level governance partnership 
to facilitate a more cooperative and collaborative approach to 
addressing critical housing issues on the East Coast. 

Key Task 3:  
Develop a financial model which includes:
	 •	 bridging	finance
	 •	 loan	protection	insurance
	 •	 suspensory	loans.
OUR APPROACH
 • The housing team negotiated access to a HNZC suspensory loan of 

up to $15,000 for our whanau, to assist them with the infrastructure 
costs for building a new home and/or relocating a home, e.g. drainage, 
electricity supply to the house and water supply.

Key Task 4:  
Investigate joint ventures with banking institutions
OUR APPROACH
• Establishment of Credit Union agencies

Credit Union to  be established under auspices of AWHI Credit Union 
until Ngati Porou are ready to register in own right. 

PERFORMANCE AGAINST THE PLAN
Low Deposit Rural Lending Programme
• Secured HNZC loans totalling $2.65m, an improvement of $400,000 on 

the $2.25m projected.
• 124 whanau participated in home ownership workshops.
• 43 whanau achieved home ownership, eight more than projected. 
• 18 whanau accessed suspensory loans for infrastructure 

development through HNZC.
• 17 homes relocated from Wellington to Ngati Porou under Pinehill 

Project.
• Six whanau provided with emergency accommodation.
• Two mortgagee sales successfully averted.

SHAZ & NECBOP Projects
• 12 whanau able to access suspensory loans for repairs & maintenance 

work accessed through the SHAZ and NECBOP Projects for carpentry, 
electrical, plumbing and septic tanks work

• 96% of all our SHAZ Projects have been completed.
• 28 whanau were able to access other support options through SHAZ 

and NECBOP.

OUTLOOK for 2004-2005
1 Support a minimum of 40 whanau into home ownership.
2 Complete essential repairs & maintenance work on 25 homes.
3 Provide employment for minimum of 10 tradespeople. 
4 Establish relationship protocol between TRONP and Housing New 

Zealand Corporation.
5 Complete SHAZ Project.
6 Continue housing research into opportunities which support and 

stimulate a viable Ngati Porou housing industry.
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TUHONO WHANAU

STRATEGIC PLAN
To provide information, practical support, advice, advocacy and parent 
education to whanau and connect them with the other services that they 
require to meet their long-term goals.

GOALS AND OBJECTIVES FOR 2003 – 2004
 • Children who receive Tuhono Whanau services will be able to 

demonstrate that they have improved education, social and health 
outcomes.

• Parents will be able to demonstrate how they have improved their 
parenting capability and practice.

• Parents will be able to discuss and demostrate how their personal and 
whanau circumstances have improved.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
• Exceeded contract requirements.
• 100% of whanau worked with have initial plans in place.
• 46 planned whanau exits were implemented as a result of successful 

intervention support.
• 30 whanau now involved with Nga Puna Kohungahunga (Puna) groups.

PERFORMANCE AGAINST THE PLAN
• 84 whanau enrolled at end of this year.
• 46 whanau have graduated. 
• Child Youth and their Families  Approval Assessment requirements met.
• Co-funders Annual Monitoring requirements met.
• Completed recruitment of Parent support and development Kaiawhina.
• Puna Support position approved.
• All staff undertaking tertiary qualification study.

Key Task 
To provide a quality support service to 84 whanau who meet Family Start 
referral criteria.
OUR APPROACH
• Whakawhanaungatanga and Manaakitanga.
• Intensive networking plan with community agencies to ensure referrals 

were appropriate.
• Whanau evaluations completed every six months and at planned exit.
• Staff involved with numerous community support activities to promote 

Tuhono Whanau and effect improved collegial collaboration.
• Open to annual monitoring by funders.
• Strength-based practice training emphasis for staff professional 

development.
FEEDBACK ON SPECIAL PROJECT
Nga Puna Kohungahunga : Whanau-driven early childhood education 
centres.

SUCCESSFUL INITIATIVES
• Promotion of Mana 

Wahine. 
• Support for Vision and 

Hearing screening.
• Safe to Go Car Restraint 

programme certified.
• Support Breastfeeding 

promotion and 
education programmes.

• Provided ongoing 
support to our three 
Puna.

• Implemented an 
exercise programme 
in the workplace to 
support staff wellness.

• Ongoing commitment 
to teambuilding.

VISION
Whakapumau i te mana o 
te Iwi ki te whakapakari i 
ona whanau
Me whaka u te 
Matauranga Ngati Porou
ki roto ki tena whanau 
ki tena whanau kia taea 
ratou ki te tiaki i a ratou 
tamariki mokopuna
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OVERVIEW 
Nga Punakohungahunga provide a safe environment for whanau to 
practise whanaungatanga, manaakitanga, aroha tetahi ki tetahi. The 
Puna have been developed alongside the core operations of the Tuhono 
Whanau as a means to:
- support effective parenting 
- foster and promote secure attachment, parent child  interaction and 

early childhood education.
We established three Puna groups 
-  Puna Tuhono
- Puna Horouta
- Puna Whakapono.

GOALS
• Strengthening the parents’ confidence to stand tall and be proud.
• Increasing children’s self esteem in all areas of learning.

Throughout the year 
Regional staff visited the Puna to monitor the project and provide 
advice. The Puna also hosted a number of Runanga services who made 
presentations on housing, injury prevention and early child development 
and mirimiri.

ACHIEVEMENTS
• Developed promotional 

material on the Puna.
• Puna Whanau members 

completed NZQA unit 
standards in Early 
Childhood Education.

• Puna WHanau members 
confident now to join 
Play Centre, Kohanga 
Reo and other larger 
early childhood centres.

Tamariki and parents of the three Puna groups.
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PARENTS AS FIRST TEACHERS (PAFT)
GOALS AND OBJECTIVES
• To provide one-on-one support to first-time parents through a series of 

structured child development programmes.
• To work with a minimum of 25 whanau who do not have good access to 

parenting support, early childhood education and health information.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
• 100% of all participants have up-to-date progress records on file.
• 100% of all whanau indicated they would recommend PAFT to other 

whanau in satisfaction survey.
• 247 home visits were completed this year.
• Whanau group hours exceeded contract target by 30%.
• Four whanau exited PAFT and now attending Kohanga Reo fulltime.

FEEDBACK ON SPECIAL PROJECT
Parent/Whanau Group Hui –Teddy Bears Picnic
Two Teddy Bears Picnics focusing on nutrition and physical activity were 
held at Rahui Marae, Tikitiki and Tokomaru Bay. The aim was to provide a 
forum for parents/whanau to network and to provide further information 
and/or assistance to whanau. This initiative was made successful through 
the collaborative work of the Runanga’s Nutrition, Community Injury 
Prevention services and PAFT working alongside our Kohanga Reo.

KIWA EDUCATION PARTNERSHIP
OUTCOME STATEMENT

To improve educational outcomes for all learners, particularly Maori.

2003/04 PRIORITIES
• Literacy  •  ICT 
• Student Mentoring • Matauranga Ahureinga
To improve educational outcomes for all learners, particularly Maori. 

TEAM INITIATIVES
Establish Literacy Facilitator position.

KEY TASKS
Collaboration between Ngati Porou, Turanganui a Kiwa and key education 
groups to raise education achievement outcomes.

ACHIEVEMENTS
ALARMM Project
Raising reading achievement for Maori boys by assessing the sight 
capacity and/or impairment of 5-7 year Maori boys.  112 boys were 

tested over 25% failed sight tests. Where necessary, glasses 
were prescribed.  Post reading tests conducted to measure the 
change.  

PERFORMANCE AGAINST PLAN
• Move to wider Ministry of Education relationship as a result 

of changing nature of previous schooling improvement 
relationship with KEP

• Stakeholder and Reference Group meeting held where vision 
and focus of KEP was shared and valued.

THE YEAR AHEAD
Continue to focus on raising achievement for Maori learners. 
This may be sought and achieved through the Partner 

organisations, specifically the two runanga.

Nau i whatu te kakahu, 
he taniko taku.

PURPOSE & GUIDING 
PRINCIPLES
• Parents and whanau are the 

first and most important 
teachers of their children.

• Focus on  early intervention 
and primary prevention.

• Being child-centred while 
recognising the importance 
of the whanau.

• Support whanau to 
become self-sufficient and 
confident in drawing upon 
their own resources before 
accessing complementary 
community-based services.

VISION
Learning to achieve

ALARMM project testing with dispensing 
optician Steve Stenersen (right).
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WHAIA TE ITI KAHURANGI
1  BACKGROUND
The catalyst for the partnership was the 1997 ERO Report which 
concluded that the quality of education in over two thirds of the East 
Coast Schools was poor.  A Strategic Development Framework – A 
Working Document for the delivery of quality education in Ngati Porou 
East Coast Schools which set out a five-year work programme was 
completed in November 1988.  Te Runanga o Ngati Porou and the Ministry 
of Education formalised a partnership through a Memorandum of 
Understanding signed on 14 June 1999.

INTERVENTIONS
In 1999 a series of change management initiatives began, focusing 
on governance and management frameworks and systems.  In 2000 
professional development became a major focus and in 2001 the 
introduction of Te Rangitawaea (ICT) equipment and training.  In 2002 
professional development for teachers, principals and boards was 
maintained as was the Te Rangitawaea (ICT) infrastructure for schools.
Professional Development was bolstered in 2003 by the appointment 
of three part time education facilitators to work directly with schools.  
The ICT infrastructure was maintained and strengthened and the 
development of learning resources based in Matauranga Ngati Porou 
began.  Initial scoping work was completed in Early Childhood Education.

NZCER EVALUATION
NZCER was contracted in 2001 by the partners in Whaia te iti Kahurangi 
to undertake formative evaluation of the progress and impact of 
the initiatives, which was to inform their ongoing development.  The 
initiatives are not seen by the partners as a finite programme, but as 
a living framework for change.  The final of five reports was presented 
to the partnership in 2004 with key findings identifying measurable 
improvements in: 
•  school governance
•  school rolls and teaching capacity
•  student learning and student development
•  student behaviour and special needs.
It noted that WTIK has made a substantial difference to the Ngati Porou 
East Coast Schools.  

VISION   
Kotahi tonu te hiringa 

i kake ai a Tane ki 
Tikitiki-o-rangi, 

ko te hiringa i te 
mahara.

OVERARCHING GOAL:
To restore the learning 
culture to Ngati Porou.

 

OBJECTIVES
1  Teaching and Learning 

To achieve high quality learning 
outcomes for learners, through the 

provision of exceptional teaching
2  Human Resources

To secure and support in our 
Learning Centres who are 

vocationally committed to high 
quality teaching and learning

3  Student Support
To ensure all learners in our 

Learning Centres enjoy success in 
all aspects of education

4  Learning Communities
To build, support and strengthen 

an East Coast community of 
learners through maximising 

opportunities for learning and 
optimal use of regional resources

5  Ngati Poroutanga
To preserve, promote, practise and 

celebrate Ngati Poroutanga in all 
our Learning Centres.

6  Governance and Management  
To govern and manage all 

education resources and Learning 
Centres through a constructive 

partnership with Iwi communities, 
and government

7  Resources
To manage and maintain the 

resources of all Learning Centres to 
provide the capacity to achieve the 

vision and goals of this plan.

Matauranga Ngati Porou Resource 
Building Workshop at Manutahi School.



TE RUNANGA O NGATI POROU

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

 The report also noted some of the underlying 
challenges for the partnership and for the long-term 
goal of restoring a learning culture to Ngati Porou. 
These challenges include:
• The continuing need to attract and retain good 

quality teachers who understand, respect and 
support the Ngati Porou values

• The shortage of good quality teachers in Te Reo 
Maori

• The need to progress Ngati Porou  Matauranga 
Guidelines and resources

•  The need to invest in Early Childhood Education.

2  FUNDING
In 2003/04 Whaia te iti Kahurangi was funded to 

support initiatives designed to strengthen school capacity and manage 
education including:
• Learning Technology Workshops to advance integration across 

curriculum
• Professional development in curriculum assessment
• Numeracy Framework professional development
• literacy development
• retention and achievement of student development
• review of Whaia te iti Kahurangi Strategic Framework
• maintain Te Rangitawaea (ICT) infrastructure for schools
• create Matauranga Ngati Porou Resources for all learning centres.

3  ACHIEVEMENTS 2003/04
Schooling improvement
• Noted increase in number of teachers – 84 –  taking part in professional 

development Learning Technologies Workshops, focusing on 
integrating Te Rangitawaea across curriculum.  This is attributed to Te 
Rangitawaea Festival and the NATI Awards set down for August 2004. 

• Forty-eight teachers from a cluster of eight schools participated in the 
Literacy Workshops. These workshops required literacy co-ordinators 
to review their schools’ implementation plans for oral language strand, 
theory to best practice case studies, comprehension and assessment. 

• Twenty-four teachers participated in the Numeracy Framework 
professional development workshops. 

• Support provided to four area schools to help improve retention and 
achievement among senior secondary students; 56 students took part.

Matauranga Ngati Porou
Three Matauranga Ngati Porou digital resources were completed during 
this period.  All resources are in Te Reo ake o Ngati Porou and are for use in 
all learning centres.  
• Taku Tai Moana     Video
• Etahi Waiata/Haka o Ngati Porou  CD Rom
• Whakapapa Framework   CD Rom
Key Ngati Porou Pakeke provide guidance to Matauranga Ngati Porou 
Team.

Te Rangitawaea – Information Communication Technology
Te Rangitawaea (ICT) infrastructure was upgraded and maintained by 
the Whaia te iti Kahurangi technicians.  Teachers and principals were 
supported by the Whaia te iti Kahurangi Learning Facilitator.
Te Rangitawaea and Whaia te it Kahurangi Management continued liaison 
with the Probe initiative which will eventually lead to faster internet 
access.Manny Funtelar, ICT Network Technician

Honorary doctorates were awarded to 
(from left) Dr Paratene Ngata, Dr Apirana 
Mahuika and Dr Witi Ihimaera.

Ivan Lomax teaching ICT workshop at 
Whangara School. 
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Iwi Initiatives
Strategic Development Framework Review
A review of the first five years of Whaia te iti Kahurangi against the seven 
objectives of the 1998 Strategic Framework involved:
• extensive consultation with whanau, hapu, communities and iwi to gain 

stakeholder feedback
• analysis of reports to determine outcomes achieved
• analysis of report to identify recommendations for future action.

The review found that:
• the Strategic Development Framework remains as relevant for the 

future as it was when developed and implemented in 1998
• the work programmes and initiatives could continue to be developed 

and implemented on the basis of the Strategic Development Framework 
as they are currently

• there was strong support from whanau, hapu, iwi and communities for 
the SDF to be retained with minor adjustments.  The current SDF will 
continue to contribute strongly toward the achievement of improved 
learning outcomes, the Ngati Porou Strategic Plan for Education and the 
Ministry of Education Strategic Plan.  

It was agreed that the Strategic Development Framework should remain 
unchanged on the basis that:
• it was a product of extensive consultation with whanau, hapu and 

iwi with input from Te Runanga  o Ngati Porou and the Ministry of 
Education  

• the Strategic Development Framework would continue to provide an 
appropriate platform for achieving student achievement and a high 
quality Ngati Porou education

• Matauranga Ngati Porou and the Ngati Porou Curriculum Guidelines for 
all learning communities be a priority.  

4  CONCLUSION
The catalyst for the partnership was the 1997 Education Review Office 
Report for 21 schools which indicated that 14 were non performing. The 
2004 Education Review Office Report for 19 schools states that 18 are 
meeting compliances with one reviewed outside of this current year.  

E Tipu E Rea – The Way Forward
Building on the gains of Whaia te iti Kahurangi, Te Runanga o Ngati Porou 
and the Ministry of Education are taking the education initiative to a 
higher level. 
The focus will be Matauranga Ngati Porou and to signal this, E Tipu E Rea 
has been launched.  All learning will be embedded in the whakatauaki.  
E tipu e rea mo nga ra o tou ao
Ko to ringa ki nga rakau a te Pakeha hei oranga mo to tinana
Ko to ngakau ki nga taonga a o tipuna Maori hei tikitiki mo to mahunga
A ko to wairua ki te Atua, nana nei nga mea katoa.

The catalyst for the 
partnership was the 1997 

Education Review Office 
Report for 21 schools 

which indicated that 14 
were non performing. 

The 2004 Education 
Review Office Report for 
19 schools states that 18 

are meeting compliances 
with one reviewed 

outside of this current 
year.  

Ivan Lomax teaching at a video-editing 
workshop. 

NZCER Report launch at Tolaga Bay.Sir Apirana Ngata
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HAPU DEVELOPMENT
HAPU SOCIAL SERVICES

KEY TO GRAPH
Information and Advice – Provide information and advice on a range of 
topics to whanau and hapu.
Home Management and Parenting – Skills development programmes, 
that focus on practical domestic skills that contribute to the family’s ability 
to care for their children.
Youth Education, Programmes are targeted at Rangatahi who are at risk 
of offending, harm and neglect and focus on identity.
Community Education - Programmes which focus on ways to reduce 
family violence.
Whanau Mentoring - Mentoring programmes based on positive 
parenting and relationship building, within Whanau.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
Tikitiki and Rangitukia Social Services Committees merged to co-jointly 
run programmes, resulted in better quality of programme for participants.

PERFORMANCE AGAINST PLAN
Waipiro Bay/Te Puia Springs Community Services were approved as a 
Service Level 3 Provider under the CYF standards of approval.

FOCUS 
Whanau and hapu self-
sustainability
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Hapu development manages, 
administers and co-
ordinates Community Injury 
Prevention, Community 
Nutrition Programmes, 
Strengthening Families, East 
Coast Safer Communities 
Council and Hapu Social 
Services. 

Tikitiki and Rangitukia Social Services 
Holiday programme.
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COMMUNITY NUTRITION Te Taro O Te Ora 

Te Taro O Te Ora is a community programme, which has 
established a network of Maori Nutrition workers working 
with their marae and communities. The focus for Te Taro o te 
Ora is to promote the safe preparation of healthy kai, increase 
daily activity and reduce and/or eliminate smoking as part of 
supporting whanau adopt a healthy lifestyle.
• 11 marae-nominated nutrition trainees were certificated 
•  Three marae workers and one kaimahi for Te Kohanga Reo are 

currently being trained.

ACHIEVEMENTS
• Nutrition Programmes have been delivered in Tokomaru Bay, 

Matakaoa, Ruatoria and Waiapu schools, kohanga reo, marae 
and playcentres.

• A total of 150 children have attended nutrition workshops.
• We have run joint programmes with other member groups of the 

Tairawhiti Nutrition Steering Group during focus weeks for 
Well Child, Mana Wahine, Breastfeeding and Diabetes.

• The Nutrition Team Leader co-delivered a workshop at 
the national hui with Te Hotu Manawa Maori, Auckland; 
Waipareira Trust, Auckland; and Kokiri Seaview, Wellington. 

• Nutrition Kaiawhina were presented with their nutrition 
certificates at the Health Promotion Hui held in February 
2004. 

• Big thanks from the Runanga to Te Taro o te Ora Team Leader 
for her excellent planning and organisation of the catering 
for key Runanga events during the year including the 16th 
anniversary celebrations.

COMMUNITY INJURY PREVENTION PROGRAMME

CIPP ACHIEVEMENTS
•100% contractual outcomes achieved by Community Injury Prevention 

Programme. Ministry of Health congratulated the team on an impressive 
12-month’s work programme to improve and promote injury prevention 
for Ngati Porou.

Marae-Based Driver’s Licence Programme
ACHIEVEMENTS
• 11 programmes completed
• Total number of particpants for above period – 143
• 100% of all particpants who attended these programmes passed.

TRONP Trustee Peace Te Kani (left) and 
Julie Wright, Carseat Coordinator

Community Injury 
Prevention Kaiawhina 
Tarlene Roberts with Addie 
Ashford.

Te Taro o te Ora Healthy Kai workshops 
with kohanga reo (above) and pakeke 

(below).



TE RUNANGA O NGATI POROU

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

SAFER COMMUNITIES COUNCIL
Te Runanga o Ngati Porou is one of only four Iwi-Sponsored 
Safer Community Councils out of a total of 61 Safer 
Community Councils established nationwide. The Runanga 
chose to become a SCC because we believe that the role of 
SCCs is consistent with our own cultural obligation to manaaki 
and protect all people domicile within our tribal rohe.
Throughout the nine to 10 years we have been a SCC sponsor 
the Runanga has impressed upon the Crime Prevention Unit 
of the Ministry of Justice that our Safer community agenda 
goes beyond the parameters of their crime reduction priorities 
and that it is grounded in shifting the paradigm that SCC 
operate from which is a deficit-model to a strength-based 
model. 

We have maintained two approaches to our Safer 
Communities work this year.
1. First approach
Addressing the Crime Reduction priorities that are relevant to 
the East Coast, including:
• reducing the incidence of drug consumption, availability, 

cultivation and sale across Ngati Porou
• to raise community awareness of ‘P’ and how to deal with 

people on ‘P’
• support provided to communities to reduce the level of 

vandalism and burglaries occurring in their business centres. 
• working in conjunction with the Police to run Blue 

Light ventures targeting youth and promoting whanau 
participation in alcohol-free, drug-free and smoke- free 
events

• developed an anti-drug road show, raising awareness of 
the drug ‘P’ methamphetamine which was delivered to 
communities from Potaka to Tolaga Bay.

2. Second approach
• Active participation in the review of the Safer Community 

Council and the successful promotion of an iwi-specific SCC 
model, which has been adopted.

• Promotion of an “all of justice model” to enable iwi to discuss 
the bigger justice agenda which iwi wish to pursue with the 
Government.

• Completed negotiations to secure on-going funding for the 
East Coast SCC, which will be integrated in to the Runanga 

Hapu Social Services 
forum and will focus on 
a Whakapakari Whanau 
training programme.
• Access capacity 

building funding 
from CPU to run 
over 25 Ngati 
Porou whanau and 
hapu capacity and 
capability building 
workshops.

Four of the kuia of Tokomaru Bay at the 
16th anniversary celebrations.

Volleyball competition (above) and 
swimming (below) at the 2004 Inter-
Marae Sports, Uawa, Tolaga Bay.

Ngati Porou-East Coast rugby team in 
action.
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Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE for the year ended 30 June 2004

     
 Note Group  Parent  Group  Parent
  2004  2004  2003  2003
Revenue
Grants/Contracts 3 3,277,073  3,277,073  2,629,617  2,629,617
Interest Income  194,566  97,870  106,550  90,987
Net Fishing Income 4 1,303,232  -  1,402,250  -
Farming Income  739,173  739,173  862,552  862,552
Farm Holding Gain 8 187,297  187,297  (276,585 ) (276,585 )
Rental Income  40,429  40,429  23,386  25,716
Dividend Income – NPFL  -  500,000  -  447,000
Sundry Income  64,898  64,898  166,548  168,773
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Total Revenue  5,806,668  4,906,740  4,914,318  3,948,060
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Expenses
Staff Expenses  2,025,716  1,948,460  1,827,590  1,806,689
Trustees Fees  72,739  72,739  74,079  74,079
Directors Fees  50,000  -  64,000  -
Operating Expenses  1,720,332  1,606,081  1,579,300  1,506,424
Interest Expense  27,277  27,277  28,301  28,301
Farming Expenses  458,509  458,509  440,952  440,952
Depreciation 5 175,105  173,646  175,805  175,805
Bad Debts/Doubtful Debts 10 9,791  9,791  2,731  2,731
Impairment of Investment 7 70,000  70,000  -  -
Koha  5,129  5,129  6,100  6,100
Operating Lease Expenses  50,678  50,678  68,229  68,229
Grants Given  275,170  275,170  291,350  291,350
Audit Fees  33,700  30,200  26,000  26,000
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Total Expenses  4,974,146  4,727,680  4,584,437  4,426,660
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Net Surplus/(Deficit)  $832,522   $179,060  $329,881  $(478,600 )
  ____________   ____________  ____________  ____________

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.
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 Note Group  Parent  Group  Parent
  2004  2004  2003   2003
Current Assets
Westpac Bank Accounts  3,535,928  1,332,329  2,820,179  1,236,329
Sundry Debtors 9 468,187  420,124  385,875  348,486
Related Parties Sundry Debtors  -  250,000  -  225,560
Prepayments  6,000  6,000  -  -
Merchandise Inventory  10,906  10,906  9,930  9,930
Property Intended for Disposal  89,086  89,086  146,088  146,088
Resident Withholding Tax Refund  -  -  2,985  -
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Total Current Assets  4,110,107  2,108,445  3,365,057  1,966,393
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Non Current Assets
Ngati Porou Fisheries Ltd  -  500,000  -  493,666
Livestock 8 1,367,687  1,367,687  1,180,390  1,180,390
Mana Enterprise Loan Portfolio 6 46,383  46,383  77,087  77,087
Investments 7 70,586  70,586  125,182  125,182
Fixed Assets 5 2,971,005  2,956,543  2,913,559  2,913,559
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Total Non Current Assets  4,455,661  4,941,199  4,296,218  4,789,884
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Total Assets  $8,565,768  $7,049,644  $7,661,275  $6,756,277
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Current Liabilities
GST Payable  39,704  9,794  115,037  44,479
Sundry Creditors  413,738  374,063  401,198  375,239
Employee Entitlements  62,780  62,780  51,581  51,581
Income in Advance  201,917  201,917  100,000  100,000
Hire Purchase (current) 19 4,448  4,448  8,947  8,947
Other liabilities  21,700  37,104  -  -
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Total Current Liabilities  744,287  690,106  676,763  580,246
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Non Current Liabilities
Hire Purchase (non-current) 19 4,447  4,447  -  -
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Total Non Current Liabilities  4,447  4,447  -  -
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Equity  7,817,034  6,355,091  6,984,512  6,176,031
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Total Funds Employed  $8,565,768  $7,049,644  $7,661,275  $6,756,277
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

These financial statements are authorised for issue for and on behalf of the Board:

____________________________________________________________ _________________________________________________________

Chairman Date Trustee Date 

Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION as at 30 June 2004

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

8 Nov 2004 8 Nov 2004
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The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

 Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group
STATEMENT OF MOVEMENTS IN EQUITY for the year ended 30 June 2004

      
 Note Group  Parent  Group  Parent
  2004  2004  2003   2003

Total Opening Equity  6,984,512   6,176,031  6,654,631  6,654,631

Net Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year  832,522   179,060  329,881  (478,600 )
  ____________   ____________  ____________  ____________

Total Net Surplus/(Deficit)
for the Year  832,522   179,060  329,881  (478,600 )
  ____________   ____________  ____________  ____________

Total Closing Equity  $7,817,034   $6,355,091  $6,984,512  $6,176,031
  ____________   ____________  ____________  ____________

Represented By:

Closing Retained Earnings  6,318,176  4,856,233  5,485,654  4,677,173

Asset Revaluation Reserve  282,902  282,902  282,902  282,902
Capital Reserve Account – Farms  1,215,956  1,215,956  1,215,956  1,215,956
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Total Closing Equity  $7,817,034  $6,355,091  $6,984,512  $6,176,031
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________
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The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS for the year ended 30 June 2004

      
 Note Group  Parent  Group  Parent
  2004  2004  2003   2003

Cash Flows from Operating Activities        
Cash was provided from:
 Grants and Contract Income  3,350,050  3,368,609  2,591,363  2,582,846
 Fishing Quota  1,717,891  -  1,394,645  18,092
 Dividend Income  -  457,000  -  240,000
 Farm  702,773  702,773  859,743  859,743
 Other  105,327  105,327  189,934  194,489
 Interest  187,867  91,572  111,184  97,270
 Taxes Paid – Resident W/ Tax  2,985  -  -  -
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

   6,066,893  4,725,281  5,146,869  3,992,440

Cash was applied to:
 Payments to suppliers and 
 operating expenses  2,963,729  2,434,762  2,343,365  2,222,405
 Payments to employees & trustees  2,137,256  2,010,000  1,868,180  1,857,322
 GST  75,333  34,685  (46,309 ) 24,249
 Interest  27,277  27,277  28,301  28,301
 Taxes Paid – Resident W/ Tax  -  -  2,985  -
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

   5,203,595  4,506,724  4,196,522  4,132,277
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from
Operating Activities 18 863,298  218,557  950,347  (139,837)
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      
Cash was provided from:
 Mana Principal Repayments  21,756  21,756  9,960  9,960
 Sale of Assets  60,884  60,884  -  -
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

   82,640  82,640  9,960  9,960
Cash was applied to:
 Purchase of Fixed Assets  214,733  198,811  110,225  110,225
 NP Fisheries Ltd Investment  -  6,334  -  493,666
 Nga Hukatai Ltd Investment  15,404  15,404  50,000  50,000
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

  230,137  220,549  160,255  653,891
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from
Investing Activities  (147,497 ) (137,909)  (150,265 ) (643,931)
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________
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The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS for the year ended 30 June 2004

      
 Group  Parent  Group  Parent
 2004  2004  2003   2003

Cash Flows from Financing Activities      

Cash was provided from:
 Hire Purchase Activities 12,351  12,351  -  -
 Loans and Advances -  15,404  -  -
 ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

 12,351  27,755  -  -
 ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Cash was applied to:
 Hire Purchase Activities (12,403 ) (12,403 ) (13,898 ) (13,898 )
 ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from
Financing Activities (52 ) 15,352  (13,898 ) (13,898 )
 ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash Held 715,749  96,000  786,184  (797,666 )

Add: Opening balance of cash 2,820,179  1,236,329  2,033,995  2,033,995
 ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

Closing Balance of Cash $3,535,928  $1,332,329  $2,820,179  $1,236,329
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________
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1. Statement of Accounting Policies
 Reporting Entity

The reporting entity is Te Runanga O Ngati Porou.  Consolidated financial statements are presented for Te 
Runanga O Ngati Porou and its wholly owned trading subsidiary Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited.

General Accounting Policies
The financial statements of Te Runanga O Ngati Porou comprise the following significant activities:

 - Corporate Services
 - Economic Development incorporating Mana Enterprises, Fisheries, Pakihiroa & Puanga Stations
 - Whanau/Hapu Development incorporating Resource Management Issues

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Section 31 of the Maori Trust Boards Act 
1955, and generally accepted accounting practice.
The general accounting principles recognised as appropriate for the measurement and reporting of 
earnings and financial position on an historical cost basis are followed, except for Pakihiroa Station and 
Puanga Station, which are included at valuation at purchase date. Reliance is placed on the fact the 
Runanga is a going concern.  Accrual accounting is used to match expenses and revenues.

Particular Accounting Policies
The following particular accounting policies, which materially affect the measurement of earnings and 
the financial position, have been applied:

Consolidation of Subsidiaries
The group financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Runanga and its wholly owned 
trading subsidiary which is consolidated using the purchase method.  The results of any subsidiaries 
acquired or disposed of during the year are consolidated from the effective dates of acquisition or until 
the effective dates of disposal.
All inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated on consolidation.  

Revenue
Government grants are recognised as revenue when eligibility for grants has been established by the 
grantor agency.  Fishing Quota income is recognised when cash is received or receivable for the lease 
of quota irrespective of the fishing season to which it relates.  Interest is recognised as accrued.  Other 
income is recognised when goods or services are provided.

Depreciation
For accounting purposes, depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value basis, which will write off the 
cost or revaluation of the assets evenly over their expected useful lives.  The following rates have been 
applied:

 Buildings 2.5% - 4%
 Building Improvements 12% - 33%
 Plant and Machinery   3% - 50%
 Motor Vehicles 8% - 26%
 Furniture and Fittings 3% - 40%
 Office Equipment 
 - Computer Equipment 33% - 40%
 - Other Equipment 10% - 40%

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation except Pakihiroa 
Station and Puanga Station.  These farms are included at the valuation at the date of settlement; it is not 
the Runanga’s policy to revalue these assets.  The land and buildings were recorded at net current values 
as at 30 June 1993 by an independent registered valuer, Andrew Warren and Associates.  Subsequent 
additions to the station have been recorded at cost.  All assets except land and the woodlot have been 
depreciated.

Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2004
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Particular Accounting Policies (continued)

Accounts Receivable
 Accounts receivable are valued at net realisable value.

Investments
 Investments are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

 Inventory
 Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value on a first in first out basis.

Mana Loan Portfolio
Mana loans are stated at expected realisable value after allowance for doubtful debts.  Doubtful debts 
have been established on the basis of management’s assessment on a client by client basis.

Livestock
 Livestock is valued at estimated market values as at 30 June 2004 by an independent registered valuer, 

Wrightson Limited, Ruatoria.  Changes in value of existing productive livestock are recorded as a holding 
gain or loss and are recorded in the Statement of Financial Performance.

Goods and Services Tax
The financial statements have been prepared stating all income and expenditure items exclusive of GST, 
except accounts receivable and accounts payable which are GST inclusive. 

Cash Flow Statement
The following definitions have been used for the preparation of the Statement of Cash Flows:

(i) Cash
 Coins, notes, demand deposits or highly liquid investments for which there is a recognised ready 

market and which are unconditionally convertible to coins and notes at the Board’s option 
within no more than two working days and which the Board regards as part of its day-to-day 
cash management.

(ii) Operating Activities
  Transactions and other events that are not investing or financing activities.

 (iii) Investing Activities
 Activities relating to the acquisition, holding and disposal of fixed assets and of investments such 

as securities, not falling within the definition of cash.

(iv) Financing Activities
  Activities which result in changes in the size and composition of the capital structure of the 

board, both equity and debt not falling within the definition of cash.
 

Finance Leases
Leases under which the Runanga assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases and are capitalised.
The finance charge is allocated to periods during the lease term so as to produce a constant period rate 
of interest on the outstanding balance of the liability for each period.

Operating Leases
Operating lease rentals are recognised evenly over the expected period of benefit to the Runanga.

Changes in Accounting Policies
There have been no changes in accounting policies.  All accounting policies have been applied on bases 
consistent with the previous year.

Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2004
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Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2004

2. Taxation
The Runanga, as a Charitable Organisation, is exempt from income tax. 

3. Grants/Contract Income
Grants/contract income from public funding agencies is comprised as follows:

    Parent  Parent
   & Group  & Group

2004    2003

 ECDU – PAFT    33,500  30,708
 Ministry of Health    153,800  153,800
 NZ Lottery Grants Board    15,000  19,000
 Ministry of Justice    66,323  -
 Housing Corporation of NZ    299,788  279,569
 Ministry of Education    548,151  438,069
 Ministry of Maori Development    234,057  121,805
 Department of Child Youth & Family Services    1,668,425  1,402,697
 Ministry of Social Policy    21,000  23,500
 Land Transport Safety Authority    50,000  38,636
 Accident Compensation Corporation    27,403  16,873
 Department of Labour – CEGS    48,000  37,333
 Ministry of Economic Development    -  53,333
 Ministry of Social Development    35,852  -
 Department of Internal Affairs    25,333  -
 Turanga Ararau    35,141  -
 Other Agencies    15,300  14,294
     ____________  ____________

     $3,277,073  $2,629,617
     ____________  ____________

4. Fishing Income
 Group  Parent  Group  Parent
 2004  2004  2003   2003

 ACE Income 1,728,164   -  1,718,698  -
 Less: Resource Costs (424,932 )  -  (316,448 ) -
 ____________   ____________  ____________  ____________

 Net ACE Income $1,303,232   $-  $1,402,250  $-
  ____________   ____________  ____________  ____________
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Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2004

5. Property, Plant and Equipment
  Group
 2004  Cost Accumulated 
   Depreciation Book Value

 Land – Pakihiroa 670,000 - 670,000
 Buildings – Pakihiroa 443,549 86,263 357,286
 Station – Puanga 508,000 - 508,000
 Building – Puanga 47,000 13,997 33,003
 Woodlot – Puanga 100,000 - 100,000
 Land – TRONP 62,767 - 62,767
 Buildings – TRONP 617,033 190,285 426,748
 Taonga 499,126 112,760 386,366
 Motor Vehicles 413,466 205,198 208,268
 Office Equipment 610,056 484,192 125,864
 Furniture & Fittings 93,838 47,817 46,021
 Plant & Equipment 119,311 82,757 36,554
 Hire Purchase Assets 12,351 2,223 10,128
  ____________  ____________  ____________

  $4,196,497  $1,225,492  $2,971,005
  ____________  ____________  ____________

  Parent
 2004  Cost Accumulated 
   Depreciation Book Value

 Land – Pakihiroa 670,000 - 670,000
 Buildings – Pakihiroa 443,549 86,263 357,286
 Station – Puanga 508,000 - 508,000
 Building – Puanga 47,000 13,997 33,003
 Woodlot – Puanga 100,000 - 100,000
 Land – TRONP 62,767 - 62,767
 Buildings – TRONP 617,033 190,285 426,748
 Taonga 499,126 112,760 386,366
 Motor Vehicles 413,466 205,198 208,268
 Office Equipment 598,634 482,847 115,787
 Furniture & Fittings 89,339 47,703 41,636
 Plant & Equipment 119,311 82,757 36,554
 Hire Purchase Assets 12,351 2,223 10,128
  ____________  ____________  ____________

  $4,180,576  $1,224,033  $2,956,543
  ____________  ____________  ____________
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Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2004

5. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

  Parent & Group
 2003  Cost Accumulated 
   Depreciation Book Value

 Land – Pakihiroa 670,000 - 670,000
 Buildings – Pakihiroa 443,549 76,565 366,984
 Station – Puanga 508,000 - 508,000
 Building – Puanga 47,000 12,940 34,060
 Woodlot – Puanga 100,000 - 100,000
 Land – TRONP 62,767 - 62,767
 Buildings – TRONP 557,033 174,058 382,975
 Taonga 499,126 92,461 406,665
 Motor Vehicles 307,177 160,595 146,582
 Office Equipment 543,200 426,061 117,139
 Furniture & Fittings 86,920 41,645 45,275
 Plant & Equipment 117,670 72,806 44,864
 Hire Purchase Assets 42,653 14,405 28,248
  ____________  ____________  ____________

  $3,985,095  $1,071,536  $2,913,559
  ____________  ____________  ____________

 Depreciation Expense  Parent & 
  Group  Parent  Group
  2004  2004  2003
 Buildings  26,982  26,982  30,373
 Taonga  20,300  20,300  21,368
 Motor Vehicles  49,345  49,345  50,896
 Office Equipment  58,131  56,786  51,087
 Furniture & Fittings  6,171  6,058  6,382
 Plant & Equipment  9,952  9,952  7,415
 Hire Purchase Assets  2,223  2,223  6,201
 Assets held for Resale  2,001  2,001  2,083
   ____________  ____________  ____________

   $175,105  $173,647  $175,805
   ____________  ____________  ____________

 The most recent Rating Valuation of Land & Buildings as at 01 September 2002 are as follows:
 199 Wainui Road      81,000
 Wainui Road, Gisborne      115,000
 Hekiera Road – Whare Wananga, Ruatoria      225,000
 Barry Avenue, Ruatoria      125,000
 Onepoto Road, Hicks Bay      156,000
 144 Waiomatatini Road      17,000
       ____________

       $719,000
       ____________

 Puanga Station      619,000
 Pakihiroa Station      1,630,000
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Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2004

6. Mana Enterprises Loan Portfolio
  Parent & Group
    2004  2003
 Mana Enterprises Loan Portfolio    692,024  835,499
 Less: Specific Doubtful Debts Provision (refer to Note 10)   260,610  124,797
 Less: General Doubtful Debts Provision (refer to Note 10)   -  226,076
     ____________  ____________

     431,414  484,626
     ____________  ____________

 Less Internal Loans:
  Porou Ariki    -  2,363
  TRONP    112,500  112,500
  Pakihiroa Station    272,531  292,676
     ____________  ____________

 Net External Mana Loan Portfolio    $46,383  $77,087
     ____________  ____________

Security is held by Te Runanga O Ngati Porou over assets owned by
borrowers (clients).  All Mana Loans are to related parties.

7. Investments Parent & Group
    2004  2003
 Nga Hukatai Limited    $140,586  $125,182
 Less Provision for Impairment of Investment    70,000  -
     ____________  ____________

     $70,586  $125,182
     ____________  ____________

8. Livestock Summary
  Parent & Group

 2004 2003 Total 2004 Total 2003  Holding 
 Stock  Stock  Value $  Value$ Gain/(Loss)$
Sheep      
MA Ewes 2,123 2,442 186,824 170,390 16,434
2th Ewes 1,041 916 91,715 68,700 23,015
Ewe Hoggets 1,040 2,730 69,680 163,800 (94,120)
5 yr Ewes 562 - 47,208 - 47,208
MA rams 973 132 60,760 5,280 55,480
Rams 10 19 400 760 (360)

Total Sheep 5,749 6,239 456,587 408,930 47,657

Cattle

MA Cows 423  444 317,250 310,800 6,450 
R3 Yr Heifers 103 132 77,990 88,290 (10,300) 
R3 Yr Dry Heifers 25 - 13,500 - 13,500 
R2 Yr Heifers 187 130 101,770 75,400 26,370 
R1 Yr Heifers 278 305 116,390 102,600 13,790 
R1 Yr Steers 107 177 53,500 74,340 (20,840) 
R2 Yr Steers 8 61 4,800 37,820 (33,020) 
R3 Yr Steers 15 - 11,250 - 11,250 
R 1Yr Bulls 85 120 37,400 46,800 (9,400) 
R 2Yr Bulls 79 - 59,250 - 59,250 
R 2Yr Fries  119 2 95,200 1,200 94,000 
MA Bulls 19 30 22,800 34,210 (11,410) 
Total Cows 1,448 1,401 911,100 771,460 139,640 
Total Livestock 7,197 7,640 1,367,687 1,180,390  
Total Holding Gain / (Loss)    $187,297



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

55

Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2004

9.  Sundry Debtors
 Group  Parent  Group  Parent
  2004  2004  2003   2003

 Gross Sundry Debtors 468,187  420,128  499,247  461,858
 Less: Doubtful Debts Provision -  -  113,372  113,372
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

  $468,187  $420,128  $385,875  $348,486
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

10. Bad Debts/Doubtful Debts
 During the year Mana Loans had negotiated settlements where some of the balance outstanding was written 

off in return for settlement of the loans. Other debts were deemed uncollectable and have also been written 
off.  The value of total bad debts written off was approximately $100,000.  After reviewing the remainder 
of the portfolio the provision for doubtful debts has been reduced by approximately $90,000 to reflect the 
collectibilty of those loans remaining in the portfolio.  The overall effect is an additional expense of $9,791. 

11. Mount Fishmarkets Ltd (MFM)
An agreement exists whereby the Runanga is obliged to acquire its pro rata portion of the Treaty of Waitangi 
Fisheries Commission’s shares in MFM plus a portion of costs for due diligence.  The sum is estimated to be 
$100,000 and will be settled as part of the ultimate distribution of the Treaty of Waitangi Fisheries Commission 
assets (refer Note 16). 

12. Radio Ngati Porou
The Runanga owns two radio licences (frequencies), AM 585 & FM 98.1.  Radio Ngati Porou (RNP) is currently in 
operation as a stand-alone entity, separate from the day to day financial control of the Runanga. 
During the 1993/94 year, NZ On Air transferred the assets it purchased for RNP’s purposes to the Runanga. As 
the Runanga receives no financial benefit from these frequencies, the assets have been included in the books 
at no value.

13. Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
Except as disclosed in note 11, other contingent liabilities or commitments have been noted as:

MRI Investment:  
The Runanga has committed to invest $150,000 in the Tairawhiti Development Task Force Major Regional 
Initiative (MRI) and this investment will be paid out over the next 3 years in $50,000 instalments. 

Operating Lease Commitments.

  Group  Parent  Group  Parent
  2004  2004  2003  2003

 0 – 1 years 79,820  79,820  106,636  106,636
 1 – 2 years 20,015  20,015  87,230  87,230
 2 – 5 years 5,108  5,108  118,954  118,954
 5+ years   -  -  -
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

 Total $104,943  $104,943  $312,820  $312,820
  ____________  ____________  ____________  ____________

There are no capital commitments as at 30 June 2004, (2003: Nil).
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14. Financial Instruments
The Runanga is party to financial instruments as part of its normal operations.  These financial instruments 
include bank accounts, short term deposits, investments, debtors, creditors and loans.  All financial instruments 
are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position and all revenues and expenses in relation to financial 
instruments are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.  All financial instruments are shown 
at their estimated fair value.
Credit Risk
Financial instruments which potentially subject the company to credit risk principally include cash, short 
term deposits and accounts receivable.  Credit risk with respect to cash and short term deposits is reduced 
by investing in a registered bank.  While accounts receivable are unsecured the majority of the debtors are 
with government organisations. 

15. Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited
The Runanga is at present the 100% owner of Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited.  The principle activity of Ngati 
Porou Fisheries Limited is involvement in the fishing industry.  The Runanga’s fishing business is now 
conducted through Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited.

16. Fishery Assets
The Treaty of Waitangi Fisheries Commission (Te Ohu Kai Moana) is presently holding fisheries assets on 
behalf of all Iwi groups. No recognition has been made in the financial statements at the Group level of these 
assets as there is still ongoing uncertainty as to the method of distribution of these assets and the ultimate 
beneficiaries.

17. Tyndall Road, Gisborne Property
In October 1996, the Runanga received title to a property in Tyndall Road, Gisborne from what was previously 
the Department of Land and Survey Information (DOSLI).  The title was received by the Runanga on behalf 
of Te Reo o Te Iwi Kokiri, as Te Reo o Te Iwi Kokiri was still in the process of becoming a separate legal entity.  
It is still undecided which entity will ultimately hold title to the property.  As the Runanga is only holding 
the property until the ultimate beneficiary is determined it has not recognised the property in its financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2004.  The latest Government valuation of the property, dated 1 
September 1999, is $94,000.

18. Net Cash Flow From Operating Activities

  Group  Parent Group Parent
  2004 2004 2003 2003
 Net Profit/(Loss) Per Financial
 Statements 832,522 179,060 329,881 (478,600)
 
 Non Cash Items:
 Depreciation 175,105 173,646 175,805 175,805
 Bad Debts 9,791 9,791 2,731 2,731
 Impairment in Investment 70,000 70,000 - -
 Holding Gain/Loss (187,297) (187,297) 276,585 276,585
  ____________ ____________ ____________ ___________

  900,121 245,200 785,002 (23,479)
 Add Movements in Working Capital:
 Increase in Debtors
 and Prepayments (85,326) (102,078) (126,902) (312,088)
 Increase in Creditors 49,479 76,411 286,675 190,158
 Increase in Inventory (976) (976) 5,572 5,572
  ____________ ____________ ____________ ___________

  (36,823) (26,643) 165,345 (116,358)
  ____________ ____________ ____________ ___________

 Net Cash Inflow  $863,298 $218,557 $950,347 $(139,837)
  ___________ ____________ ____________ ___________
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19 Hire Purchase Commitments
 The finance rate for the hire purchase agreement is a 1.7%

     Parent & Group
  2004 2003
 Total Hire Purchase Liabilities 9,053 9,498
 Less: Finance Charges 158 551
  ____________ ____________

 Total Hire Purchase Liabilities Excluding Finance 8,895 8,947

 Charges:
 0 – 1 years 4,448 8,947
 1 – 2 years 4,447 -
  ____________ ____________

 Total $8,895 $8,947
  ____________ ____________

20. Related Parties
 Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited
 Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited was set up to conduct and manage the Runanga’s fishing quota allocation.  

The company is 100% owned by the Runanga.  During the year Ngati Porou Fisheries was charged rent of 
$2,739 by the Runanga.

 During the year Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited advanced $15,404 to the Runanga.  This advanced was used 
to increase the Runanga’s investment in Nga Hukatai Limited.

 At year end a sundry debtor is due from Ngati Porou Fisheries Limited to the Runanga in respect of the 
balance of the 2003 dividend of $250,000.  This was paid in July 2004.
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CORPORATE SERVICES - STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
For the year ended 30 June 2004

 Parent Parent
 2004  2003
Revenue
Administration Charge – Internal 441,939 449,648
Dividend ex NPFL 500,000 447,000
Interest Income 54,891 62,984
Rental Income 36,809 22,522
Contract & Grant Income 68,979 2,442
Other Income 29,359 47,998
 ____________ ____________

Total Revenue 1,131,977 1,032,594
 ____________ ____________

Expenses
Staff Expenses 452,276 429,634
Trustees Fees  68,700 70,769
Operating Expenses 419,878 393,610
Depreciation 88,197 65,948
Bad Debts Written Off 4,495 2,731
Koha 1,342 3,158
Operating Lease Expenses - 19,778
Grants Given 269,500 289,502
Audit Fees 30,200 26,000
Impairment of Investment 70,000 -
Internal Charges - Administration - -
Internal - Dividend Transfer  29,000 27,000
 ____________ ____________

Total Expenses 1,433,588 1,328,130
 ____________ ____________

Net Deficit $(301,611) $(295,536)
 ____________ ____________

Appropriation Account

Opening Balance (1,025,677) (730,141)
Plus Net Deficit (301,611) (295,536)
 ____________ ____________

Closing Balance $(1,327,288) $(1,025,677)
 ____________ ____________
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ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT - STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
For the year ended 30 June 2004

 Parent Parent
 2004  2003
Revenue
Interest Income 42,978 28,003
Consultancy/Contract Income 142,067 178,893
Other Income 14,484 54,348
Internal - Dividend Transfer - 27,000
Farm Holding Gain 187,297 (276,585)
Farm Livestock Income 739,173 862,552
 ____________ ____________

Total Revenue 1,125,999 874,211
 ____________ ____________

Expenses
Staff Expenses 245,214 234,943
Trustees Fees 4,039 3,310
Operating Expenses 185,856 275,930
Bad Debts/Doubtful Debts 5,296 -
Interest Expense 27,277 28,301
Farm Expenses 458,509 440,952
Depreciation 38,845 39,412
Koha 2,429 520
Internal Charges - Administration 27,147 51,559
 ____________ ____________

Total Expenses 994,612 1,074,927
 ____________ ____________

Net Surplus/(Deficit) $131,387 $(200,716)
 ____________ ____________

Appropriation Account
Opening Balance 5,466,569 5,667,285
Plus Net Surplus/(Deficit) 131,387 (200,716)
 ____________ ____________

Closing Balance $5,597,956 $5,466,569
 ____________ ____________
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 Parent Parent
 2004  2003
Revenue
Grants/Contracts 3,097,142 2,491,853
Rental Income 3,620 3,196
Other Income 21,055 22,856
Dividend – Internal Transfer 29,000 -
 ____________ ____________

Total Revenue 3,150,817 2,517,905
 ____________ ____________

Expenses
Staff Expenses 1,250,970 1,142,110
Operating Expenses 957,709 767,747
Depreciation 46,604 70,462
Hapu Service Providers 73,752 69,104
Grants Given 5,670 1,449
Operating Lease Expenses 50,678 48,872
Koha 1,358 2,421
Internal Charges - Administration 414,792 398,089
 ____________ ____________

Total Expenses 2,801,533 2,500,254
 ____________ ____________

Net Surplus $349,284 $17,651
 ____________ ____________

Appropriation Account
Opening Balance 236,281 218,630
Plus Net Surplus 349,284 17,651
 ____________ ____________

Closing Balance $585,565 $236,281
 ____________ ____________

Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and Group
WHANAU/HAPU DEVELOPMENT - STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
For the year ended 30 June 2004
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AUDIT REPORT

AUDIT REPORT
TO THE READERS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
TE RUNANGA O NGATI POROU AND GROUP
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2004

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Te Runanga O Ngati Porou and group (the Trust Board).  The Auditor-General has appointed 
me, Graham Naylor, using the staff and resources of Deloitte, to carry out the audit of the financial statements of the Trust Board, 
on his behalf, for the year ended 30 June 2004.

Unqualified Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements of the Trust Board on pages 44 to 60:
- comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and
- fairly reflect:
 - the Trust Board’s financial position as at 30 June 2004; and
 - the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date.
The audit was completed on 8 November 2004, and is the date at which our opinion is expressed.  The basis of the opinion 
is explained below.  In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board of Trustees and the Auditor, and explain our 
independence.

Basis of Opinion
We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the New Zealand 
Auditing Standards.  We planned and performed our audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered 
necessary in order to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements did not have material misstatements, 
whether caused by fraud or error.

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall understanding 
of the financial statements.  If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in 
the opinion.  Our audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the financial statements.  We assessed 
the results of those procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:
- determining whether significant financial and management controls are working and can be relied on to produce 

complete and accurate data;
- verifying samples of transactions and account balances;
- performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data;
- reviewing significant estimates and judgements made by the Board of Trustees;
- confirming year-end balances;
- determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; and
- determining whether all financial statement disclosures are adequate.
We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial statements.  We evaluated the 
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements.  We obtained all the information and explanations 
we required to support the opinion above.

Responsibilities of the Board of Trustees and the Auditor
The Board of Trustees is responsible for preparing financial statements that show the financial position of the Board of Trustees 
as at 30 June 2004 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date.  The Board of Trustees 
responsibilities arise from the Maori Trust Boards Act 1955. 
We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and reporting that opinion to you.  This 
responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 31(2) of the Maori Trust Boards Act 1955. 

Independence
When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate the 
independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand.  Other than the audit, we have no 
relationship with or interests in the Trust Board.

Graham Naylor
Deloitte
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Hamilton, New Zealand
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Chief Executive Officer Amohaere Houkamau
CORPORATE SERVICES 
Administration Manager Agnes Walker 
Finance Manager  Yvonne Williams, retired 20/06/04
Finance/Administration Officer Monty Manuel 
Finance Support Rangiawhio Te Iringa, resigned 24/12/03
Finance Officer Rangiawhio Te Iringa, re-employed 08/03/04
Finance Assistant Frances Grant, appointed 02/02/04
Board Secretary Heather Wanoa, transferred to Housing
Board Secretary Albertha McFarlane, appointed 01/12/03
Communications Officer Mateawa Keelan, appointed 13/10/03
Personal Assistant to CEO Hinerau Paenga
Reception/Information Officer (Porou Ariki) Albertha McFarlane, transferred to Board Secretary 
Receptionist Katherine Tuhaka, appointed 05/01/04
Receptionist/Car Seat Co-ordinator  Julie Wright, resigned 04/06/04
Receptionist - Ruatoria Makere Kaa, appointed 28/10/03
Management Administrator Lilian Tangaere-Baldwin, appointed 14/06/04
Cleaner (Ruatoria) Phillipa Tako
Cleaner (Porou Ariki) Aaron Horsfield
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
Administrator Michael Ransley 
Tourism Co-ordinator Kerry Johnston
Farm Manager Regan Poi, Pakihiroa Station
Shepherd General Kingi Koia, Puanga Station
Shepherd General Toby Hohapata, Pakihiroa Station
Fencer Patrick Boyle, Pakihiroa Station
WHANAU/HAPU DEVELOPMENT
Administrator Terendak Keelan
Parents As First Teachers Co-ordinator Terendak Keelan
Practice Manager Audrey Trotman 
Counsellor Polly Thatcher (Bertha), resigned 31/03/04
Counsellor Heni Tibble, resigned 21/01/04
Budget Advisor Christine Morrison, appointed 07/07/03
Budget Advisor Maud Johnson 
Administration Support Ngawiki Te Kani, appointed 11/03/04
Whanau Support Riria Fox
Programme Co-ordinator Bonnie Stainton, appointed 08/12/03
Truancy/Te Whae Atawhai - Kaiti Charlotte Te Maro Collier
Truancy/Te Whae Atawhai - Uawa Mary Anne Crawford
Truancy/Te Whae Atawhai - Ruatoria Ruira Morice 
Truancy/Te Whae Atawhai – Te Araroa Katerina Stainton 
Nutrition Team Leader Margaret Pepere
Nutrition Kaiawhina Matekino Tuhura 
Community Injury Prevention Team Leader Rebecca Pohatu, resigned 30/06/04
Community Injury Prevention Kaiawhina Leone Roberts 
Hapu Development Manager Tamati Reedy, resigned 27/02/04
Hapu Development Manager Katarina Mill, appointed 05/04/04
Housing Manager Anne Huriwai 
Housing Support Co-ordinator - Gisborne Robyn Smith
Housing Support Co-ordinator - Gisborne Aeisha Teneti, resigned 05/09/03
Housing Support Co-ordinator - Gisborne Davina Walker, appointed 20/10/03 
Housing Support Co-ordinator - Ruatoria Heather Wanoa, appointed 01/12/03
Housing Support Co-ordinator - Ruatoria Mateawa Keelan, resigned 12/10/03
Housing Support Co-ordinator - Ruatoria Aroha Rangihuna 
Housing Support Co-ordinator – Ruatoria Jasmine Kaa, transferred to Whaia Te Iti Kahurangi
Tuhono Whanau Kaiwhakahaere Dinah Love
Administrator  Katherine Tuhaka, transferred to Receptionist
Administrator Ruby Anne Edwards
Kaihautu Jane Kopua
Kaihautu Katarina Mill, transferred to Hapu Development Manager
Kaihautu Riripeti Halbert-Berry, appointed 05/04/04
Kaiawhina Tawhai Cannell, resigned 29/08/03
Kaiawhina Philippa Davies 
Kaiawhina George Haig, resigned 18/07/03
Kaiawhina Riripeti Halbert-Berry,  appointed 08/09/03, transferred to  
 Kaihautu
Kaiawhina Kate Hall, resigned 15/08/03
Kaiawhina Sonia Jones
Kaiawhina Julliet Lardelli
Kaiawhina Aperahama Molloy 
Kaiawhina Christine Morrison, transferred to Budget Advisor
Kaiawhina Hamish Pono Rennie 
Kaiawhina Shona Samuels 
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Operations Manager 
Ramari Collier, appointed 02/02/04
Whaia Te Iti Kahurangi Administrator 
Michelle Gilvray, resigned 31/01/04
Education Support Officer 
Leeanne Morice
Communications Officer 
Jasmine Kaa, appointed 04/02/04
Resource Developer
Te Raumawhitu Kupenga
Numeracy Facilitator 
Kumeroa Raihania-White 

CASUAL EMPLOYEES
Supervision Tuhono Whanau
Margaret Walker
Finance Support/Administration
Megan Kawhia
Community Injury Prevention Administration, 
Jean McClutchie
Community Injury Prevention Administration, 
Adrianne Olsen
Administration Support
Josephine Tangaere
Administration Support
Isobel Roberts
Cleaner
Claude Paul
Receptionist - Ruatoria, Christina Sergent
Receptionist - Porou Ariki, Jamie Matete
Receptionist - Tuhono Whanau, Andrea Jones



APPENDICES

REGISTRATION FORM
This registration form is used for the purpose of collating information for the Ngati Porou database. 
You must be of Ngati Porou descent to register. Pursuant to the Privacy Act 1993, the information may 
be used at the discretion of Te Runanga O Ngati Porou.

SECTION ONE: PERSONAL INFORMATION

 MR MRS MISS MS MASTER

SURNAME ..............................................................................   MAIDEN NAME .........................................................................

FIRST NAME/S ................................................................................................................................................................................

POSTAL ADDRESS

...................................................................................................

...................................................................................................

...................................................................................................

...................................................................................................

Phone (  )  ...............................................................................

Cellphone (  )  .......................................................................

Fax (  )  .....................................................................................

E:Mail (  )  ................................................................................

Date of Birth        /       /

FOR TRONP OFFICE USE ONLY

Date Received:  ...........................................................

Date Entered:  .............................................................

Registration No:  ........................................................

Entered by:  ........................................................................

STREET ADDRESS (if different to postal address)

...................................................................................................

...................................................................................................

...................................................................................................

...................................................................................................

Please complete Rohe and Marae Affiliations overleaf

Please return registration forms to: Te Runanga O Ngati Porou

     P O Box 394 or P O Box 226

     Gisborne  Ruatoria

63
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You can register to one rohe only but can choose as many marae as  you affiliate to

SECTION TWO: ROHE 
I wish to affiliate in rohe

(Please circle  one only)

SECTION TWO:  NGA MARAE O NGATI POROU 
My marae affiliations are (please circle as many as you affiliate to)

ROHE 1 Potikirua ki Waiapu ROHE II Waiapu ki Tawhiti

Potaka Tikapa

Hinemaurea (Wharekahika) Te Horo

Punaruku Waiomatatini

Tutua Kakariki

Hinerupe Reporua

Matahi o Te Tau Umuariki

Awatere Ruataupare

Hurae Mangahanea

Kaiwaka Uepohatu

Putaanga Rauru (Taumata o Mihi)

Rahui Ngati Porou (Kariaka)

Taumata o Tapuhi Mangarua (Te Heapera)

Hinepare Whareponga

Ohinewaiapu Te Aowera

Karuai Hiruharama

Tinatoka Rongo i Te Kai (Penu)

 Rongohaere

 Te Kiekie

 Taharora

 Iritekura

I declare that the information given in this 
registration form  is true and correct and I am of Ngati Porou descent.

Signature       Date ....................................................................

 1 POTIKIRUA ki WAIAPU  3 TAWHITI ki ROTOTAHE

 2 WAIAPU ki TAWHITI  4 ROTOTAHI ki TE TOKA A TAIAU

ROHE III (Tawhiti ki Rototahe) 

Te Ariuru 

Waiparapara 

Pakirikiri

Tuatini

Hinetamatea 

Okuri

Hinemaurea (Mangatuna)

Puketawai

Te Rawheoro

Hauiti

ROHE IV (Rototahe ki Te Toka 

a Taiau)

Whangara

Te Poho o Rawiri

*  Rakairoa ki Harataunga
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DIRECTORY

REGISTERED OFFICE
RUATORIA
Corporate Services, Hapu Development
Housing, PAFT

1 Barry Avenue
PO Box 226
RUATORIA
Ph: 06 864 9004
Fax: 06 864 9008
Email: info@tronp.org.nz
Website: www.ngatiporou.iwi.nz

OTHER OFFICES
POROU ARIKI
Tourism, Housing, Administration 
Support Services
195 Wainui Road
PO Box 394
GISBORNE
Ph:    06 867 9960   Porou Ariki
Fax:   06 867 5335
Email: porou.ariki@xtra.co.nz 

EXTERNAL ADVISERS
AUDITORS
Deloitte Touche Tohmatisu
Fonterra Building
PO Box 17
HAMILTON

ACCOUNTANTS
Ernst & Young Ltd
100 Willis Street
WELLINGTON

BANK
Westpac Trust
Ruatoria Branch
Waiomatatini Road
Ruatoria

SOLICITORS
Kahui Legal 
Axon House
PO Box 1654
WELLINGTON
Ph: 04 495 9999

Rainey Collins and Wright
Rainey Collins House
PO Box 689
WELLINGTON
Ph: 04 473 6850

Burnard Bull & Co
64 Lowe Street
PO Box 946
GISBORNE
Ph: 06 867 133
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HAMO  TE RANGI
Iwi Social Services, Counselling, 
Budgeting, Whanau Support
199 Wainui Road
PO Box 394
GISBORNE
Ph:    06 868 3449   
Ph:    06 867 5882   Budgeting
Fax:   06 863 2014

RONGO
Tuhono Whanau
Shop 2, Kaiti Mall
PO Box 3097
Kaiti Mall
GISBORNE
Ph:    06 867 8436
Fax:   06 863 3432

Cover design: Jimmy Hill

POROPOROAKI

POROPOROAKI

Kua hinga nga totara o
te wao nui a Tane
haere korua nga pukorero
o nga tatai whakapapa o Ngati Porou
haere ki o tatou matua, ki o tatou tipuna
ki te mana, te ihi, te wehi, kei te po. 

Te Hapukuniha ( Jacob) Karaka 
Tupakeke o Ngati Porou

Kakapaiwaho (Waho) Tibble ( past 
Runanga Trustee/pakeke)
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